

Bangor University

MASTERS BY RESEARCH

Population and conservation genomics of the adder (Vipera berus) in the UK

Pozzi, Andrea

Award date: 2023

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Population and conservation genomics of the adder (*Vipera berus*) in the UK



prifysgol BANGOR university

Master of Science by Research

Keywords: Genomics, Adder, Conservation genomics, Population genomics Whole-genome sequencing

Candidate: Andrea Vittorio Pozzi

Supervisors: Dr Wolfgang Wüster Dr Axel Barlow



I hereby declare that this thesis is the results of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. All other sources are acknowledged by bibliographic references. This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree unless, as agreed by the University, for approved dual awards.

Yr wyf drwy hyn yn datgan mai canlyniad fy ymchwil fy hun yw'r thesis hwn, ac eithrio lle nodir yn wahanol. Caiff ffynonellau eraill eu cydnabod gan droednodiadau yn rhoi cyfeiriadau eglur. Nid yw sylwedd y gwaith hwn wedi cael ei dderbyn o'r blaen ar gyfer unrhyw radd, ac nid yw'n cael ei gyflwyno ar yr un pryd mewn ymgeisiaeth am unrhyw radd oni bai ei fod, fel y cytunwyd gan y Brifysgol, am gymwysterau deuol cymeradwy.

(Pozzi Andrea)

ABSTRACT

The intensification of human activities has led to a drastic loss of suitable habitats for various taxa, followed by patterns of population decline and isolation. During the past decades, in the UK, the adder (Vipera berus) has experienced a significant population decline. Once highly abundant, this reptile is now confined to small and fragmented populations, making it a national conservation concern. Despite this, data regarding the genetic status of the species in the UK are extremely scarce and limited to a single microsatellite-based study. Therefore, for the first time, a whole-genome sequencing approach was here employed to assess patterns of population structure and genetic health in four adder populations from Wales and England. Despite strong population structure and a lack of recent gene flow between the investigated populations, the latter were characterised by extremely high levels of average genome-wide heterozygosity. The recovered heterozygosity levels turned out to be higher/comparable to those from higly genetically diverse vertebrates. However, further investigations revealed hidden extensive patterns of genomic erosion within the assessed adder's genomes, thus revealing overlooked inbreeding patterns. This discrepancy is likely to be the product of large and genetically diverse ancestral populations that have recently undergone rapid and extreme bottlenecks. This study highlights the efficiency of wholegenome sequencing in assessing patterns of population structure and genetic health. Moreover, the results call attention to the future persistence of the assessed adder populations, arguing for the potential necessity of human-mediated genetic conservation actions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to thank John Benjamin Owens, Bálint Üveges, Tom Major, Ellie Morrison, Stuart Graham, Anatoli Togridou, Alexander Papadopulos, Guillem Limia Russel, Rebecca Bracegirdle, Antonio Gandini and Callum Stanley for their critical material and moral support. Moreover, I want to thank Dr Axel Barlow and Dr Wolfgang Wüster for their fundamental insights, guidance, and support.

Sequencing costs were in part covered by the Research Support Fund provided by the School of Natural Sciences, Bangor University.

I acknowledge the support of the Supercomputing Wales project, which is part-funded by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) via Welsh Government.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
1. INTRODUCTION	6
 1.1 THE ADDER: AN OVERVIEW 1.2 THE ADDER IN THE UK 1.3 CONSERVATION IN THE GENOMIC ERA 1.4 THE APPLICATION OF LOW COVERAGE WHOLE-GENOME SEQUENCE POPULATION AND CONSERVATION GENOMICS 	7
2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	16
2.1 PRIMARY AIMS	16 17
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
 3.1 SAMPLING AND DATA GENERATION	$ \begin{array}{c}17 \\17 \\18 \\19 \\20 \\20 \\20 \\21 \\21 \\22 \\21 \\22 \\23 \\23 \\23 \\$
	43
 4.1 KESULTING DATA	23 24 26 26 26 28 28 30 31
5. DISCUSSION	33
5.1 HIGH GENETIC DIVERSITY DESPITE THE LACK OF GENE FLOW	

5.2 HIDDEN PATTERNS OF GENOMIC EROSION	36
5.3 THE POTENTIAL FOR GENETIC RESCUE	
6. CONCLUSION	41
6.1 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	41
REFERENCES	42
APPENDIX	66
APPENDIX I – DNEASY BLOOD AND TISSUES KIT DNA EXTRACTION	
PROTOCOL	66
APPENDIX II – QUBIT 3 DNA QUANTIFICATION PROTOCOL	67
APPENDIX III – DNA QUANTIFICATION RESULTS	68
APPENDIX IV – RESULTING DATA FURTHER DETAILS	69
APPENDIX V - MAPPING RESULTS OPHIDIOMYCES OPHIODIICOLA	70
APPENDIX VI – ANCESTRY ANALYSES FOR K=3	71
APPENDIX VII – ANCESTRY ANALYSES FOR K=5	72
APPENDIX VIII – BETWEEN-SPECIES AVERAGE GENOME-WIDE	
HETEROZYGOSITY	73

1. INTRODUCTION

The Anthropocene period has been characterised by an unprecedented rate of biodiversity loss (Johnson et al., 2017). This phenomenon, most commonly known as the "sixth mass extinction" (Wake and Vredenburg, 2008), has driven a decline in vertebrate populations of over 60% during the last fifty years (Turvey and Crees, 2019). The same negative trend has also strongly affected the abundance of global invertebrates (Wagner, 2020) and plant diversity worldwide (Vellend et al., 2017). The decline of the Planet's biodiversity has negatively impacted various human-related sectors causing major economic losses across the globe (Sintayehu, 2018; Eyvindson et al., 2018; Benton et al., 2021). Habitat loss and habitat fragmentation seem to represent some of the major drivers of the recent increase in biodiversity loss (Lino et al., 2018; Chisholm et al., 2018; Palmeirim et al., 2020; Püttker et al., 2020). Beyond the direct mortality caused by habitat loss and fragmentation, this phenomenon further leads to the formation of small populations, restricted within disconnected patches of suitable habitat (Trombulak and Frissell, 2000; Fahrig, 2002; Breininger et al., 2012). Compared to large populations characterised by a sufficient levels of continuous gene flow, small and fragmented populations are generally affected by low to zero gene flow between them (Cushman, 2006; Walker et al., 2008; Moore et al., 2008). These conditions generally lead to inbreeding events causing a significant loss of genetic diversity, the fixation of potentially harmful alleles, and a decline in fitness and genetic adaptability (Templeton et al., 1990; Dixo et al., 2009; Rivera-Ortíz et al., 2015; Lettoof et al., 2021). Furthermore, small and fragmented populations are also more subject to stochastic demographic and environmental events, such as intensified genetic drift, compared to large populations and those characterised by moderate levels of gene flow (Rich et al., 1979; Gabriel and Bürger, 1992; Lande, 1993; Hens et al., 2017; van den Burg et al., 2022). Thus, the sum of these factors makes small and fragmented populations more prone to extinction risk than larger and genetically diverse populations (Bijlsma et al., 2000; O'Grady et al., 2004; Frankham, 2005).

It has been estimated that, currently, circa 30% of the world's vertebrates occur in small and isolated populations characterised by inadequate levels of gene flow (Frankham *et al.*, 2019). Among them, ectotherm taxa, such as reptiles, due to their ectothermic nature, are notably more sensitive to alterations in climatic conditions than endothermic species (Aragón *et al.*, 2010; Kingsolver *et al.*, 2013; Gibson-Reinemer *et al.*, 2015). Within a planet characterised by a changing climate, this phenomenon highlights the necessity to investigate the status and

condition of the world's reptile populations in order to identify species of conservation concern and thus establish effective conservation measures.

Among reptiles, and in particular within snakes (suborder Serpentes), the members of the family Viperidae represent a significant conservation concern (Maritz *et al.*, 2016). Vipers are in fact characterised by slow life histories, low vagility, high philopatry and, due to their venomous nature, these snakes are also highly subjected to anthropogenic persecution (Phelps, 2004; Pleguezuelos *et al.*, 2007; Barbanera *et al.*, 2009; Toth *et al.*, 2010).

1.1 The adder: an overview

The adder (*Vipera berus*, Linneus 1758) is a small-to-medium-size viper characterised by an extremely wide geographic range that includes most of the Eurasian continent, ranging from western France to Korea, and from northern Norway to northern Greece (Mallow *et al.*, 2003; Phelps, 2010) (Figure 1). Due to the extent of its geographic range, the adder is recognised as the most widely distributed terrestrial snake on the planet (Saint Girons, 1980).



Figure 1. Approximate global distribution of the adder based on over 10000 publicly available presence data (www.gbif.org). Adder picture credit: Thor Håkonsen.

Currently, this species is subdivided into two subspecies characterised by distinct geographic ranges: *V. b. bosniensis* (Boettger, 1889) distributed in the Balkan peninsula, and the nominal subspecies which occupies the rest of the distributional range (Ursenbacher *et al.* 2009b).

Nevertheless, the systematics of the adder are still debated. The validity of *V. b. sachalinensis* (Zareveskij, 1917) endemic to Eastern Russia, North Korea and China has been questioned (Ursenbacher *et al.* 2009b; Cui *et al.* 2016). A recent research effort, involving the employment of an integrative taxonomic approach, suggested that *V. berus* should also include, at a subspecies level, *V. barani* (North-west Turkey) and *V. nikolskii* (Ukraine, southern Russia, Romania, and Moldova) (Freitas *et al.*, 2020). Further subspecies such as *V. b. marasso* (north-western Italy and southern Switzerland) and *V. b. walser* (north-eastern Italy) have been proposed by Schmidtler and Hansbauer (2020), Speybroeck *et al.*, (2020), Sindaco and Razzetti (2021). Despite that, due to the lack of strong supporting data, more work is needed to confirm the taxonomic validity of the latter two taxa.

sea-level heathlands and sand dune systems in the northern part of its distribution, to alpine prairies up to 3000 m asl in the southern part of its range (Grano *et al.*, 2017; Otte *et al.*, 2020).

Due to its vast geographic range, the adder is currently classified as Least Concern by the IUCN Red List (Munkhbayar *et al.*, 2021). Despite that, the same assessment highlights a worrying global population decline. In fact, significant local population reduction and extirpation events have been documented across most of its geographic range (e.g., Reading *et al.*, 1996; Ursenbacher *et al.*, 2009b; Madsen and Ujvari, 2011; de Massary *et al.* 2015; Podloucky *et al.* 2020). As an example, an ecologically unique and potentially distinct adder subspecies, which inhabited the lowland plain of the Italian Po River, went extinct during the second half of the 20th century (Gentilli *et al.* 2006).

The major causes of the global decline of the adder must be identified within direct and indirect anthropogenic pressures such as habitat loss and fragmentation, persecution, and climate change (Julian and Hodges, 2019; Francois *et al.*, 2021).

1.2 The adder in the UK

The UK, due to its biogeographic history and high latitude, is characterised by a poorly diverse herpetofauna that includes just three native species of terrestrial snakes (Speybroeck *et al.*, 2016). Among these, the adder is the sole representative of the family Viperidae in the country and the only venomous snake species. This reptile is geographically widespread within the UK, and it is present within all the country members apart from Ireland (Phelps, 2010) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Current geographic distribution of the adder in the UK based on UTM 10x10 km grid cells. Data and map obtained via NBNatlas (https://nbnatlas.org/).

The adder has been considered historically common and abundant in the UK, to the extent that its presence was erroneously considered a potential public health issue (Leighton, 1901). Despite that, this phenomenon didn't lead to the institution of a government-promoted bounty system as happened in other parts of the range of *V. berus* (e.g., Toth *et al.*, 2010). Systematic persecution has been identified as the major cause of local extirpation of other viper species such as the timber rattlesnake (*Crotalus horridus*) in part of the USA and Canada (Brown, 1993; Cook, 2004) and the Hungarian meadow viper (*Vipera ursinii rakosiensis*) in Austria (Edgar and Bird, 2005).

Despite being historically widespread, the adder has gained legal protection from intentional persecution with the inclusion of the species within the Wildlife and Countryside Act back in 1981. Furthermore, this species has been recognised as a species of conservation concern and thus incorporated into the priority species list of the Biodiversity Action Plan in 2007 (BRIG, 2007). More recently, in the light of the current decline in population size and distributional range (Baker *et al.*, 2002; McInerny, 2018; Gardner *et al.*, 2019), the adder has been reclassified under the IUCN Red List criteria as vulnerable to extinction in England and as near threatened within the rest of its UK range (Foster *et al.*, 2021). At the moment, with the

quinquennial review of the Wildlife and Countryside Act's appendix, the legal conservation status of the adder in the UK is again under debate and it's possible that the species, due to conservation concerns, will likely gain complete legal protection (Amphibian and Reptile Conservation Trust, pers. comm.).

The causes behind the decline of the adder in the UK seem to be multiple and concatenated, nevertheless, the loss of suitable habitat and anthropogenic disturbance seem to represent the major sources of such a significant and widespread population decline (Gardner *et al.*, 2019; Julian and Hodges, 2019; Foster et al., 2021). It has in fact been estimated that during the last few decades, solely within England, the adder's distributional range has been reduced by 40% (Gleed-Owen and Langham, 2012). The fragmentation of the suitable habitat has led to the formation of small and isolated populations. The results of an 11-year-long survey conducted at a UK-wide geographic level highlighted that out of 130 surveyed sites, 90% of them housed small (less than 10 adult specimens) adder populations, with large populations (more than 10 adult specimens) occurring only within 10% of the study sites (Gardner et al., 2019). Moreover, the same research further reported a significant decline in population size across all the surveyed small populations, predicting the extirpation of the latter within the next two decades. According to the authors, by 2032 the adder in the UK will be restricted to a few large populations, which are currently undergoing a slight population increase. Events of local extinction have been already reported within the UK (e.g., Foster et al., 2021) and these latter may have been caused by a decline in population fitness due to the lack of gene flow, this latter ultimately caused by habitat loss and fragmentation.

A textbook example of this phenomenon is represented by an isolated Swedish adder population intensively studied by Madsen and colleagues (1996; 2011). At the beginning of 1990, the population consisted of only nine individuals and the authors reported a high percentage of stillborn and deformed offspring, thus highlighting a low level of population recruitment (Madsen *et al.*, 1996). This phenomenon was then correlated with low levels of genetic diversity, significant inbreeding depression and small effective population size, which potentially have contributed to the fixation of deleterious alleles leading in this way to a reduction in offspring survival (Madsen *et al.*, 1996). Correlation between low levels of genetic diversity, phenotypic abnormalities, and reduced offspring survival have been noticed in other European viper species (e.g., *Vipera ursinii rakosiensis*: Újvári *et al.*, 2002; Tóth *et al.*, 2005). In the Swedish adder population, the lack of gene flow coupled with the low effective population size and the high level of inbreeding depression pushed the population to the brink of extinction (Madsen and Ujvari, 2011). Similarly, due to the persistence of most UK adders within small and isolated populations, it is highly likely that the lack of gene flow between populations, inbreeding depression and small effective population size, might represent significant threats to the persistence of this reptile in the UK. Unfortunately, data regarding the genetic status of the adder in Britain are extremely scarce.

The sole genetic study conducted so far on UK adders highlighted significant levels of intrapopulation relatedness among individuals from various populations in southern Britain (Ball *et al.*, 2020). Despite that, the same study didn't underline any evidence of loss in heterozygosity or inbreeding depression among the assessed populations. Nevertheless, as the same authors suggested, this latter phenomenon may be due to flaws in the applied methodology which, relying on the employment of mitochondrial DNA data and microsatellites (these latter represented by pre-existing microsatellites for *V. berus* and *V. ursinii*), may be inadequate to capture the real extent of population structure and heterozygosity loss (see below).

A promising conservation approach that would potentially help to assure the persistence of the adder in the UK is the implementation of genetic rescue (Madsen et al., 2004; Whiteley et al., 2015; Madsen et al., 2020). This aims to increase genetic diversity via the introduction, within an inbred population, of foreign alleles through the temporal or permanent humanmediated migration of individuals from a source population (Ingvarsson, 2001). This strategy has been applied successfully in different occasions involving various and diverse taxa (e.g. Hogg et al., 2006; Benson et al., 2011; Åkesson et al., 2016). For what concerns the adder, the implementation of genetic rescue has played a vital role in guaranteeing the survival of the previously mentioned highly inbred Swedish population. In fact, following the temporal introduction of 20 males (foreign individuals were removed after four breeding seasons [Madsen et al., 1999]) from a neighbouring source population, the focal population has undergone a drastic improvement represented by a significant increase in genetic diversity $(H_0 \text{ prior to genetic rescue (1991-1992)} = 0.181, H_0 \text{ subsequent to genetic rescue (2017)} =$ (0.243) and population recruitment (number of recruits in 1991-1992 < 5, number of recruits in 2017 = 40 circa) (Madsen *et al.*, 2020). Notably, the authors highlighted the long-term genetic benefits on the recipient population, whose genetic diversity kept increasing even after a bottleneck event caused by further habitat fragmentation and a consequent reduction in population size by 80% between 2009 and 2010.

Unfortunately, genetic rescue has been scarcely implemented as a conservation strategy due to the risk of outbreeding depression (Tallmon *et al.*, 2004; Frankham, 2015; Waller, 2015).

This phenomenon usually takes place when two or more distantly related populations, which may be characterised by fixed chromosomal differences, historical lack of gene flow, adaptive genetic differences, and coadapted-gene complexes, come back into contact leading in this way to a significant loss of fitness, reducing in this way the beneficial effects of genetic rescue (Frankham *et al.*, 2011). Outbreeding depression following genetic rescue has been observed in different cases covering phylogenetically diverse taxa (for review, Edmands, 2007). Furthermore, the translocation of individuals from one population to another can also lead to the introduction of cryptic and unwanted deleterious alleles, which may have a drastic impact on the recipient population (Kyriazis *et al.*, 2021). For these reasons, in order to avoid the potential negative side effects of genetic rescue, it is essential to obtain reliable preliminary data regarding the genetic status of all the populations involved. This allows the potential efficacy of implementing such conservation strategy to be assessed, while also identifying the most appropriate source population (Kyriazis *et al.*, 2021).

1.3 Conservation in the genomic era

During the past decades, various genetic tools have been exploited to assess and monitor the genetic status of wild populations (DeWoody et al., 2021). From the use of allozymes and mitochondrial markers, in more recent years, microsatellites have represented the most used molecular tool within the fields of population and conservation genetics (Selkoe and Toonen, 2006; Vieria et al., 2016). Microsatellites are co-dominant nuclear markers made up of repetitive tandem short sequences (between 1-10 nucleotides) characterised by a high, even if variable across the genome, mutation rate (Jarne and Lagoda, 1996; Fischer et al., 2017). Microsatellites have been widely implemented within population genetics studies mainly because of their statistical power and allelic richness (Guichoux et al., 2011; Abdul-Muneer, 2014; Vieria et al., 2016). Furthermore, the polymorphic nature of these markers allows them to capture recent evolutionary events while maintaining a low cost of development (Tsitrone et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2009). On the other hand, microsatellites are affected by various biases and limitations. Firstly, the high rate of null alleles during microsatellites amplification may be misleading in capturing the genuine genetic diversity of a population, leading to underestimations of the latter parameter (Hedgecock et al., 2004; Chapuis and Estoup, 2007). Furthermore, homoplasy commonly affects microsatellites causing significant biases in the estimation of intrapopulation genetic diversity and interpopulation structuring (Angers et al., 2000; Estoup et al., 2002). Moreover, microsatellites are population/species-specific, making them poorly transferable across taxa, causing ascertainment bias, and thus generating

misleading outcomes in the case of cross-species application (Barbara *et al.*, 2007; Zhan *et al.*, 2008; Aiello *et al.*, 2020). In addition, microsatellites made up a small percentage of the entire genome (e.g., 3-5% mammalian genome), capturing in this way just an extremely small proportion of the whole genomic diversity (Warren *et al.*, 2008). Finally, the outcomes produced by microsatellites analysis are highly influenced by the sample size, demanding a large number of sampled individuals in order to obtain precise genetic measurements (Coltman and Slate, 2003; Hale *et al.*, 2012; Sunde *et al.*, 2020). However, some authors still advocate for the application of microsatellites in population and conservation genetics, particularly within contexts characterised by scarce financial availabilities (Hauser *et al.*, 2021).

With the advent of Next-Generation Sequencing technologies, microsatellites have been largely replaced by the use of Reduced Representation Sequencing approaches (Flanagan et al., 2019; Roques et al., 2019; Sunde et al., 2020). Among these, methods based on the employment of restriction enzymes, such as RAD sequencing and ddRAD sequencing, appear to be the most used within the fields of population and conservation genetics (Davey and Blaxter, 2010; Peterson et al., 2012; Andrews et al., 2016). These approaches allow the recovery of genetic markers at a higher number and density compared to microsatellites, providing more reliable and accurate results of genome-wide diversity compared to the latter markers. (Vendrami et al., 2017; Thrasher et al., 2018; Lemopoulos et al., 2019; Zimmerman et al., 2020). For these reasons, Reduced Representation Sequencing approaches allow assessing various population parameters with a smaller sample size compared to microsatellites (Jeffries et al., 2016). Furthermore, due to the increasing application of Reduced Representation Sequencing methods and the genome-wide nature of the markers recovered through them, some authors sustain the existence of a conceptual shift from the fields of population and conservation genetics to the fields of population and conservation genomics (Stahlke et al., 2020). Despite that, the genetic variation assessed through Reduced Representation Sequencing approaches is restricted to the variable sites located in the proximity of the cut sites, capturing in this way just a limited proportion of the real genomic variation (Fuentes-Pardo and Ruzzante, 2017). Additionally, these approaches require highquality genetic samples and are particularly affected by biases during library preparation and sequencing (Arnold et al., 2013; Shafer et al., 2017; Flanagan and Jones, 2018). While the above-mentioned approaches, due to their limitations and biases, may turn out to be insufficient to reliably obtain the population genetic data needed for the implementation of conservation actions, such as genetic rescue, whole-genome sequencing allows those

13

constraints to be overcome, thus providing a clearer picture of the genetic status and health of the focal populations (Fuentes-Pardo and Ruzzante, 2017; Saremi et al., 2019). The approach provides the highest number and density of genetic markers out of all the previously mentioned methods (Lou et al., 2021). This allows the real extent of genome-wide heterozygosity to be reliably measured, which is currently considered one of the fundamental parameters in conservation and population genomics (Kardos et al., 2021; DeWoody et al., 2021). Moreover, whole-genome sequencing permits to investigate a wide array of population and demographic parameters while requiring a limited number of sampled individuals, which makes the latter approach ideal to investigate the genetic status of species occurring in small populations (Li and Durbin, 2011; Westbury et al., 2018; Paijmans et al., 2021; Foote et al., 2021). The major drawback associated with the application of wholegenome sequencing in population and conservation genomics is represented by the sequencing cost associated with this approach, especially at high sequencing depths, as well as the cost associated with the required bioinformatic expertise (Hendricks et al. 2018; Schweizer et al. 2021; Hogg et al. 2022). This economic factor constitutes a major obstacle for most of the population and conservation projects, the latter usually characterised by extremely restricted financial and computational resources.

1.4 The application of low coverage whole-genome sequencing in population and conservation genomics

A promising and cost-effective alternative to reduced-representation sequencing and wholegenome sequencing approaches in conservation genomics may be represented by the exploitation of low-coverage whole-genome sequencing (Fuentes-Pardo and Ruzzante, 2017). This latter allows genome-wide data to be recovered while limiting the sequencing effort at low-to-medium coverage depths (0.5-10x). (Lou *et al.*, 2021). The most evident benefit of this approach compared to high-depth whole-genome sequencing is represented by the significant difference in sequencing costs, due to the lower coverage depth of the former approach (Rustagi *et al.*, 2017; Martin *et al.*, 2021). This phenomenon, summed with the exponential drop during the past two decades in the per-Mb sequencing costs, often allows the employment of low-coverage whole-genome sequencing at a comparable price-point to reduced representation sequencing (Preston *et al.*, 2021; Lou *et al.*, 2021). In this way, taking into consideration the often limited budget of conservation studies, it's thus possible to costeffectively sequencing a considerable number of individuals, covering in this way a wide geographic scenario (Fumagalli, 2013). In regard to reduced-representation sequencing approaches, another major benefit of low-coverage whole-genome sequencing consists in the wider breadth of genomic coverage of this latter approach. In fact, while the former approaches, such as RAD-seq, provide a limited and random window on the study subject's genome (Fuentes-Pardo and Ruzzante, 2017), low-coverage whole-genome sequencing is able to retrieve an impressive high density of genetic markers from the entire genome of the study subject (Bizon et al. 2014). Furthermore, this latter approach is not limited, like reduced-representation sequencing, to the sole detection of changes in nucleotide bases, but it additionally allows structural differences to be recovered and mutations within regulatory elements to be detected (Mathelier et al., 2015). The wider sequencing breadth of the latter approach compared to more traditional sequencing techniques permits to investigate intra and inter-population parameters at a higher accuracy while requiring a smaller sample size (Wright et al., 2019; Lou et al., 2021). This latter feature of low-coverage whole-genome sequencing appears to be extremely important when dealing with rare, threatened, and declining species, which usually occur at low densities, and on which is fundamental to strongly limit the sampling pressure (Barbosa et al., 2020; Hohenlohe et al., 2021). This is the case of the adder in the UK, where the species mainly occurs in small, isolated, and declining populations that wouldn't be suitable for the employment of traditional sequencing approaches in terms of sample number and sampling pressure. On the other hand, due to the above-mentioned benefits, the employment of low-coverage whole-genome sequencing seems to represent a valid option to investigate the genetics and demographic history of this declining taxon.

Unfortunately, mainly due to its low sequencing depth, this method is characterised by a series of constraints and limitations. Firstly, due to the short nature of the reads obtained during the sequencing process, low-coverage whole-genome sequencing requires mapping the reads to a pre-assembled reference genome of the species concerned (Supple and Shapiro, 2018). This represents a significant limitation for conservation studies as just a small percentage of Earth's biodiversity is currently provided with a reference genome (Lewin *et al.*, 2018; Brandies *et al.*, 2019). In order to overcome this issue, reference genomes from closely related species can be used, even if the relative outcomes must be interpreted with caution (Galla *et al.*, 2018; Bohling, 2020). Moreover, various projects are aiming to sequence all the currently known eukaryotic species within the next decade (Blaxter *et al.*, 2022; Lewin *et al.*, 2022).

Furthermore, the low sequencing depth that characterises this method does not allow individual genotypes to be confidently inferred (Nielsen *et al.*, 2012; Benjelloun *et al.*, 2019).

Luckily, this latter limitation can be overcome with the employment of probabilistic methods such as genotype likelihood (GLs) (Fumagalli *et al.*, 2014; Hui *et al.*, 2020; Chat *et al.*, 2021). Finally, due to the vast amount of genetic data produced by low-coverage whole-genome sequencing, this approach can be extremely demanding in terms of informatic resources, requiring the use of computer clusters and a significant amount of bioinformatic skills (Sboner *et al.*, 2011; Hendricks *et al.*, 2018; Luikart *et al.*, 2018).

Here, a low-coverage whole-genome sequencing approach was employed for 16 adder specimens from four English and Welsh populations (four adders per each population) characterised by different population size and biogeographic histories. The presence of an adder reference genome was exploited to measure various population parameters, assessing in this way the status of the sampled population while limiting the number of sampled individuals and thus the impact on the whole population. Moreover, the presence of *Ophidiomyces ophidiicola* was investigated among the sequenced adder genomes. The latter represents the causative agent of the snake fungal disease (SFD), a potentially lethal and globally widespread disease, already recorded within the UK (for review, Di Nicola *et al.* 2022). Levels of heterozygosity from the adder populations were then compared with those from other vertebrate taxa and the ability of genome-wide heterozygosity in capturing the real extent of genetic diversity was investigated.

This study aimed to investigate the genetic and population status of various UK adder populations, assess the presence of historic or current decline, and provide preliminary evidence potentially useful for conservation managers. To the authors' knowledge, this pilot study represents the first attempt to explore the population status and genetic health of the adder through the application of a whole-genome sequencing approach.

2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

2.1 Primary aims

- I. To assess population genetic patterns and genome-wide heterozygosity within adder populations.
- II. To compare population structure and genome-wide heterozygosity between adder populations.

2.2 Secondary aims

- III. To test the effectiveness of non-invasive sampling methods for population genomic analysis.
- IV. To assess for the genomic presence of *Ophidiomyces ophidiicola* in the analysed adders.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Sampling and data generation

3.1.1 Populations details

Adder samples were collected under the Bangor University ethical approval for sample collection: COESE2023WW01A.

These originated from three populations in North Wales (Anglesey 1, Anglesey 2, Gwynedd) and one population in England (Staffordshire) (Figure 3). Population were divided into small and large on the bases of the number of reproductive specimens (10 individuals threshold) (Gardner *et al.*, 2019).

Brief descriptions of these populations are herein reported:

- Anglesey 1: This population is situated in an urbanised area on the eastern side of Anglesey Island. The area's overall extension is under 100 hectares. The latter is defined by a high density of heather (*Calluna vulgaris*) and gorse shrubs (*Ulex europaeus*). The population is considered to be small with fewer than 10 reproductive individuals.
- Anglesey 2: This population is situated on the western coast of Anglesey Island. The area's overall extension is greater than 100 hectares. The area is characterised by sand dunes covered by marram grass (*Ammophila sp.*). This population is considered to be large with more than 10 reproductive individuals.
- Gwynedd: This population is situated within an area surrounded by farmland in Gwynedd County, North Wales. The area's overall extension is under 100 hectares. The latter is defined by a high density of heather (*Calluna vulgaris*) and gorse shrubs (*Ulex europaeus*). The population is considered to be small with fewer than 10 reproductive individuals.
- Staffordshire: This population is situated in the County of Staffordshire, England. The area's overall extension is greater than 100 hectares. The latter is characterised by

heathland bordered by coniferous forest. The population is considered to be large, with more than 10 reproductive individuals.

The Euclidean distance between Anglesey 1 and Anglesey 2 populations is around 20km. The Gwynedd population is located 45 km circa from the two Anglesey populations and around 150 km from the Staffordshire one.

Geological evidence show that during the last five thousand years, Anglesey Island has been completely isolated from the mainland (Roberts *et al.* 2011). The island is separated from mainland Wales by the Menai Strait, which measures 250m at its narrowest point.



Figure 3. Sampling location of the four adder populations. Adder picture credit: Thor Håkonsen

3.1.2 Samples

A total of sixteen samples, four samples from each one of the four populations, were used during this project. These consisted of scale tissue stored in 75% ethanol. In order to test the efficacy of non-invasive samples in providing enough genetic material for population genomic analysis, a sample from Anglesey 2 (ww5395) consisted of a freshly collected shed skin, subsequentially dried and stored within a paper envelope.

In the context of phylogenetic analysis, publicly available low-coverage whole-genome sequences from two Danish individuals of *V. berus* were retrieved from NCBI database: ZMUCR90374 (NCBI accession number: SAMN14333252) and ZMUCR90375 (NCBI

accession number: SAMN14333253). The currently available adder reference genome (NBCI accession number: SAMN02780930) is characterised by a scaffold assembly level, a total sequence length of 1.5 Gb, a scaffold count of 28883 and scaffold N50 of 126452.

Specimen ID	Location	Sample type
ww5272	Anglesey 1	Scale clip
ww5273	Anglesey 1	Scale clip
ww5274	Gwynedd	Scale clip
ww5275	Gwynedd	Scale clip
ww5280	Anglesey 1	Scale clip
ww5281	Anglesey 1	Scale clip
ww5287	Staffordshire	Scale clip
ww5288	Staffordshire	Scale clip
ww5289	Staffordshire	Scale clip
ww5290	Staffordshire	Scale clip
ww5300	Anglesey 2	Scale clip
ww5301	Anglesey 2	Scale clip
ww5302	Anglesey 2	Scale clip
ww5305	Anglesey 2	Shed skin
ww5395	Gwynedd	Scale clip
ww5396	Gwynedd	Scale clip

Table 1. List of UK adder samples. The table contains data regarding the sample location and the nature of the collected sample.

3.1.3 Laboratory procedures

DNA from both types of samples was extracted through the use of commercially available DNA extraction kits (DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit, QIAGEN) following the manufacturer's protocol (Appendix I). Extracted DNA was quantified using a Qubit 3 fluorometer and a dsDNA HS assay kit, following the manufacturer's instructions (Appendix II). Library preparation, quality control, and whole-genome sequencing were carried out by an external commercial facility (Novagene Ltd., Cambridge), using a NovaSeq platform producing paired-end 150bp sequencing reads, aiming for 8x coverage of the genome of each adder.

3.1.4 Data processing

The BEARCAVE environment was used for data curation and processing (https://github.com/nikolasbasler/BEARCAVE).

Initially, Cutadap V 1.1.8 (Martin, 2011) was used to trim adapters and exclude trimmed reads shorter than 30 bp from the raw genetic sequences with a minimum overlapping threshold of one base between read and adapter. Afterwards, FLASH v. 1.2.11 (Magoč and Salzberg, 2011) with default settings was employed to merge overlapping pair-end reads. Subsequentially, reads were mapped to the adder reference genome (Swedish origin) using the BWA v. 0.7.17 mem algorithm (Li *et al.* 2009a). Finally, Samtools v 1.3.1 (Li *et al.* 2009b; Danecek *et al.* 2021) was used to remove reads that didn't map to the reference genome (-F 4), secondary alignments (-F 256), reads characterised by low mapping score (-q 30), and products of PCR duplication (- rmdup).

The same protocol was then used to map individuals' genome sequences to the *Ophidiomyces ophiodiicola* reference genome (NBCI accession number: MWKM00000000), in order to assess for the presence of the keratinophilic fungus within the assessed adder samples. The latter represents the causative agent of the Snake Fungal Disease (SFD), a widespread condition of conservation concern (Di Nicola *et al.* 2022, for review).

3.2 Population structure

3.2.1 Principal component analysis

Patterns of population structure were investigated among the UK adder samples via principal component analysis (PCA). This latter multivariate analysis is one of the most widely employed dimension reduction methods for the assessment of population structure in genomic datasets (Alhusain and Hafez, 2018) (but see Elhaik, 2022 for a critical view). ANGSD v. 0925 (Korneliussen *et al.* 2014) was used to calculate a covariance matrix by sampling random single reads (-doIBS 1). During the process, only genome scaffolds larger than 100 kb were analysed (-rf), singletons were removed by setting the minimum minor allele frequency at 0.06 (-minFreq 0.06), the minimum base quality was set at 30 bp (-minQ 30), the minimum read mapping quality was set at 30 bp (-minMapQ 30), and finally, sites with missing data were discarded setting the minimum individual filter to include all the individuals (-minInd 16). Subsequentially, PCA was performed in R using the "eigen" function and the obtained covariance matrix (R Core Team, 2021).

3.2.2 Neighbour-joining tree

In order to investigate the relationship among clusters, a Neighbour-joining (NJ) tree approach was employed.

Initially, ANGSD v. 0925 was used to retrieve a distance matrix via random sampling of reads (-doIBS 1) from the 16 UK adders and using the 2 Danish adders as an outgroup. The distance matrix retrieval process was performed applying the following filters: minimum minor allele frequency (-minFreq 0.06), minimum base quality (-minQ 30), minimum read mapping quality (-minMapQ 30), minimum individual (-minInd 18). Subsequentially, the resulting distance matrix was used to produce the relative NJ tree in R studio employing the APE v. 5.6.1 library (Paradis and Schliep, 2019). During the latter process, the two Danish samples were used to root the NJ tree.

3.2.3 Ancestry analyses

In order to investigate potential patterns of gene flow among the UK populations, ancestry analyses were performed in NGSadmix v. 32 (Skotte *et al.* 2013). This approach allows individual's ancestry to be reliably investigated while accounting for the uncertainty correlated with the use of low and medium coverage whole-genome sequencing data thanks to the employment of genotype likelihoods.

In the first place, ANGSD v. 0925 was used to generate a BEAGLE file containing the UK adders' genotype likelihoods data. To avoid the introduction of computational biases, the analyses were focused on genomic scaffolds larger than 100 Kb (-rf) and a SAMtools model for genotype likelihood estimation was employed (-GL 1). SNPs filtering threshold was set at 1e-6 (-SNP_pval). Minimum base quality was set at 30 bp (-minQ 30), and minimum read mapping quality was set at 30 bp (-minMapQ 30). Minimum and maximum individual sequencing depth filters corresponded to the half and the double of the average sequencing coverages' value respectively (-setMinDepthInd 6) (-setMaxDepthInd 24). Additionally, in order to remove singletons, a minor allele frequency filter was set at 0.1 (-minMaf). Ancestry analyses were performed for three different values of K, corresponding to the number of potential ancestral populations (K=3, K=4, and K=5). The choice of the K values was based on a priori geographic assumption of 4 populations, further tested for 1 population above and below this assumption.

The robustness of each K value was tested via four independent runs, each one characterised by unique seed values (-seed).

Resulting estimated admixture proportion files were then processed in R and displayed as colour-coded bar plots.

3.3 Genetic diversity 3.3.1 Heterozygosity estimation

Average genome-wide heterozygosity was used as a proxy to assess the genetic health of the UK adders. This genetic parameter is highly used in population and conservation genetics and allows to account for neutral and adaptative variations (Schmidt *et al.* 2021). ANGSD v 0925 was used to retrieve individual average genome-wide estimations on the bases of maximum likelihood site frequency spectrum (SFS) calculations (Nielsen *et al* 2012). Initially, site allele frequency likelihoods (-doSaf 1) were generated for each individual UK adder: analyses were restricted to genomic scaffolds larger than 100 Kb (-rf), minimum base quality was set at 30 bp (-minQ 30), the minimum read mapping quality was set at 30 bp (-minMapQ 30), while minimum and maximum sequencing depth filters corresponded to the half and to the double of the average sequencing coverages' value respectively (-setMinDepth 6) (-setMaxDepth 24), the reference genome assembly of the adder was used as the ancestral state (-anc), and a SAMtools model for genotype likelihood estimation was employed (-GL 1).

Subsequentially, individual site allele frequency likelihoods were employed for Maximum Likelihood estimation of the SFS (Site Frequency Spectrum), using the "realSFS" function, a maximum number of iterations in the EM algorithm of 100 (-maxIter 100), and limiting the optimisation to 10000 sites (-nSites 100000).

Average population genome-wide heterozygosity was calculated for each of the four adder populations (mean of individual's heterozygosity values) and then compared with heterozygosity values from other vertebrate taxa obtained from Westbury *et al.* 2018. The latter study employed methods for heterozygosity estimation that allow for comparison with estimates from this study.

Finally, the distribution of genome-wide heterozygosity along 100 kb non-overlapping windows within the individual adder genomes was graphically explored through the use of histogram plots in R.

3.3.2 Nucleotide diversity

The rate of allele fixation within each adder population was investigated via the estimation of nucleotide diversity (π) along 100 Kb genomic windows.

In ANGDS v. 0925, population-wide SFS estimations were obtained for each of the four adder populations (see above for filters details). Afterwards, population-wide SFS were employed to obtain per-site nucleotide diversity (in ANGSD denominated as pairwise-theta, "Pt") estimation (-saf2theta). Finally, a sliding-window approach was employed to collect nucleotide diversity estimation along 100 Kb windows (thetaStat) (do_stat). Resulting nucleotide diversity estimations were processed and visualised in R.

3.3.3 Fst

Genomic fixation between populations pairs was investigated via Fixation index (Fst) estimation.

In ANGSD v. 0925, population-wide SFS estimations (-doSaf 1) were carried out for each one of the four adder populations (see above for filtering details). Subsequently, estimation of 2d SFS was performed for each population pair. Afterwards, these were employed to obtain weighted global Fst estimations (fst stat). Finally, a sliding window approach was employed in order to obtain Fst estimation along 100 Kb genomic windows (fst stat2). Resulting sliding-windows Fst estimations were visualised via R.

4. RESULTS

4.1 Resulting data

During the trimming and merging processes, an average of 37% of the reads form UK adder sequences were characterised by sequencing adapters and an average of 28.37 % of UK adder sequences contained combined reads (Appendix IV).

Sequences from all the 16 UK adder samples, including the non-invasive shed skin sample, were employed for population and genetic analyses due to the high mapping coverage. The latter were in fact characterised by a mapping coverage of over 11 Gb (total amount of mapped data). On the other hand, due to the low mapping coverage of the two Danish adder sequences (2.16 Gb and 4.83 Gb, total amount of mapped data), these were employed exclusively during phylogenetic analyses and excluded from further analyses.

The UK adder sequences were characterised by a mean read depth that spanned from 8.5x to 12.2x. Consistent with the low mapping coverage, the two Danish adder sequences were characterised by a read depth of 2.1x and 3.9x (Table 2).

The low average breath of coverage (0.34 %) and the high average read depth (75x) highlighted the absence of *O. ophiodiicola* in the investigated UK adder sequences (Appendix V).

Table 2. Mapping coverage (Gb) and read depth for individual adder sequences mapped to the adder reference genome post-filtering. Results relative to the non-invasive sample (shed skin) are highlighted with a bold font. Further details can be found in the Appendix IV.

Sample ID	Mapping coverage (Gb)	Read depth
WW5272	11.61	8.9
WW5273	14.56	11.2
WW5274	11.43	8.8
WW5275	11.24	8.7
WW5280	11.33	8.8
WW5281	13.00	10.0
WW5287	11.49	8.9
WW5288	15.83	12.2
WW5289	14.53	11.2
WW5290	14.01	10.8
WW5300	14.17	10.9
WW5301	13.84	10.7
WW5302	11.02	8.5
WW5305	12.99	10.0
WW5395	14.38	11.1
WW5396	12.51	9.67
ZMUCR90374	2.16	2.1
ZMUCR90375	4.83	3.9

4.2 Population structure

4.2.1 Principal component analysis

After the filtering process, a total number of around 7.6 million informative sites were employed for further analysis. The results of the PCA analysis highlighted the presence of four distinct population clusters, where each specimen clustered according to its geographic origin (Figure 4).

An east-to-west segregation pattern was observed along the PC1, the latter explaining 11.4% of the total variation. On the other hand, a subdivision between English (Staffordshire) and Welsh (Anglesey 1, Anglesey 2, and Gwynedd) populations was observed along the PC2, the latter accounting for 10.1 % of the total data variation. A slight overlap between adders from Anglesey 1 and Anglesey 2 populations was highlighted by the analysis, but exploration of further components didn't resolve the latter pattern.



Figure 4. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) performed on 7.6 million variable sites. Principal Component 1 (PC1) accounts for 11.4% of the total variation, while Principal Component 2 (PC2) accounts for 10,1% of the total variation of the data.

The four colours correspond to the four sampled populations: green for the Anglesey 1 (A1) population, orange for the Anglesey 2 (A2) population, purple for the Gwynedd (GW) population, and fuchsia for the Staffordshire (ST) population. The different shapes represent the different biographic nature of the populations: a triangle for the insular (ISL) populations and a circle for the mainland (MND) populations.

4.2.2 Neighbour-joining tree

After the filtering process, a total number of 6.1 million informative sites were employed for further analysis. The results of the NJ tree analysis highlighted the existence of two main clades: an English one, containing all specimens from the Staffordshire populations; and a Welsh clade, containing all the specimens from Anglesey 1, Anglesey 2, and Gwynedd populations (Figure 5).

Within this latter cluster, further sub-clustering revealed the presence of a mainland clade, containing all the specimens from the Gwynedd population; and an insular clade, containing all the specimens from Anglesey 1 and Anglesey 2 populations, the latter subdivided into two distinct and non-overlapping clades corresponding to the two sampled populations. Notably, the branch length separating Anglesey 1 and Anglesey 2 populations is shorter that occurs between the other geographic populations.



Figure 5. Whole genome phylogeny of the assessed adder populations via Neighbour-joining tree.

4.2.3 Ancestry analyses

The ancestry analysis performed for K=3 highlighted the presence of three different clusters: an English cluster containing all the specimens from the Staffordshire population, a mainland Welsh cluster containing all the specimens from the Gwynedd population, and a final insular Welsh cluster containing all the specimens from the Anglesey 1 and the Anglesey 2 populations. This pattern was consistently recorded during all four runs (Appendix VI). The ancestry analysis performed for K=4 highlighted the presence of four distinct population clusters corresponding to the four geographic populations. In fact, the analysis underlined the presence of an English cluster containing all the specimens from the Staffordshire population, a mainland Welsh cluster containing all the specimens from the Gwynedd population, two distinct insular Welsh clusters, one containing all the specimens from Anglesey 1 and the other containing all the specimens from Anglesey 2. This pattern was consistently recorded during all four runs (Figure 6).

The ancestry analysis performed for K=5 highlighted the presence of a fifth population cluster with no consistency among all four runs (Appendix VII). In fact, the analysis underlined the presence of specimens belonging to a fifth population cluster which appeared to be distributed randomly within the four geographic populations. Specimens characterised by the fifth genetic ancestry were present within the Anglesey 1 population during the first run, the Staffordshire population during the second and the third runs, and the Gwynedd population during the fourth run.





Figure 6. Ancestry analysis for K=4. Each bar of the plot represents a different individual adder. Each line represents a different run performed using a unique seed value. The colour of each bar represents the proportion of ancestry of each sampled genome to K=4 clusters. The four colours correspond to the four sampled populations: green for the Anglesey 1 (A1) population, orange for the Anglesey 2 (A2) population, purple for the Gwynedd (GW) population, and fuchsia for the Staffordshire (ST) population.

4.3 Genetic diversity

4.3.1 Heterozygosity estimation

The analyses highlighted remarkably high levels of heterozygosity among all the 16 UK adders, with values ranging from 1.3 het. sites per kb to 2.5 het. sites per kb (Table 3). The Staffordshire population was characterised by the highest genetic diversity (average population genome-wide heterozygosity = 2.32 het. sites per kb), followed by the Anglesey 1 population (average population genome-wide heterozygosity = 1.75 het. sites per kb), the Anglesey 2 population (average population genome-wide heterozygosity = 1.70 het. sites per kb), and finally the Gwynedd population (average population genome-wide heterozygosity = 1.65 het. sites per kb).

Sample ID	Population	Heterozygosity (het. sites per kb)
WW5272	Anglesey 1	1.8
WW5273	Anglesey 1	1.8
WW5274	Gwynedd	1.8
WW5275	Gwynedd	1.3
WW5280	Anglesey 1	1.7
WW5281	Anglesey 1	1.7
WW5287	Staffordshire	2.3
WW5288	Staffordshire	2.2
WW5289	Staffordshire	2.5
WW5290	Staffordshire	2.3
WW5300	Anglesey 2	1.7
WW5301	Anglesey 2	1.7
WW5302	Anglesey 2	1.6
WW5305	Anglesey 2	1.8
WW5395	Gwynedd	1.8
WW5396	Gwynedd	1.7

 Table 3. Individual average-genome wide heterozygosity values (heterozygous sites per kb).

When compared with other vertebrate taxa, the focal adder populations were characterised by levels of genetic diversity higher or comparable to those from highly diverse vertebrates, such as the yellow baboon (genome-wide average heterozygosity = 1.68 het. sites per kb) and the

chimpanzee (genome-wide average heterozygosity = 1.08 het. sites per kb) (Figure 7) (Appendix VIII).



Figure 7. Between-species comparison of average genome-wide heterozygosity values. The average genomewide heterozygosity on the Y axis is recorded as "heterozygous sites per kb". Population values for the four UK adder population were calculated as the mean of relative individual's heterozygosity values. The average genome-wide heterozygosity values for the other vertebrate taxa were obtained from Westbury *et al.* 2018. The four colours correspond to the four sampled populations: green for the Anglesey 1 population, orange for the Anglesey 2 population, purple for the Gwynedd population, and fuchsia for the Staffordshire population.

The distribution of genome-wide average heterozygosity within the sequenced adder genomes showcased an unexpected distributional pattern (Figure 8). Within all the adder

genomes, the distribution of heterozygosity presented an asymmetric, negative-exponential pattern, highlighting the presence of a high number of genomic regions characterised by heterozygosity values close to zero. This distributional pattern was less accentuated among the adders from the Staffordshire population (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Distribution of heterozygosity along 100 kb widows for the four adder populations. The values on the Y axis are recorded as "heterozygous sites per kb". Each plot represents one of the four sampled adder populations. Individual continuous and overlaid lines represent different adder specimens. Dashed lines represent the relative population average genome-wide heterozygosity value.

4.3.2 Nucleotide diversity

The analysis highlighted a noticeable difference in terms of intra-population nucleotide diversity between the English population (Staffordshire) and the three Welsh populations (Anglesey 1, Anglesey 2, and Gwynedd) (Figure 9). Individuals from the Staffordshire

population seems in fact to present lower patterns of allelic fixation compared to the Welsh populations.

Average nucleotide diversity was higher in the Staffordshire population ($\pi = 2.25$ substitutions per kb) followed by the Anglesey 1 population ($\pi = 1.81$ substitutions per kb), the Anglesey 2 population ($\pi = 1.79$ substitutions per kb), and the Gwynedd population ($\pi = 1.69$ substitutions per kb).



Figure 9. Distribution of nucleotide diversity within UK adder populations along 100 kb windows. The latter is recorded on the Y axis as "substation per kb", while its frequency is recorded on the X axis. Each line represents a different one of the four sampled populations. The four colours correspond to the four sampled populations: green for the Anglesey 1 (A1) population, orange for the Anglesey 2 (A2) population, purple for the Gwynedd (GW) population, and fuchsia for the Staffordshire (ST) population.

4.3.3 Fst

The sliding windows Fst analysis highlighted discrete levels of genetic differentiation between population-pair, which were largely characterised by modest proportions of low-Fst genetic windows (Figure 10). Exceptional was the case of the two insular Welsh population, Anglesey 1 and Anglesey 2, the latter marked by a remarkably higher proportion low-Fst genetic windows.



Figure 10. Distribution of pairwise weighted Fst along 100 kb windows. Each line represents a different population pair. Each of the six colours corresponds to a different population pair: light blue for the Anglesey 1 and Anglesey 2 populations pair (A1_A2), light green for the Anglesey 1 and Gwynedd populations pair (A1_GW), pink for the Anglesey 1 and Staffordshire populations pair (A1_ST), salmon for the Anglesey 2 and Gwynedd populations pair (A2_GW), yellow for the Anglesey 2 and Staffordshire populations pair (A2_ST), and brown for the Staffordshire and Gwynedd populations pair (ST_GW).

The global Fst estimates painted a similar picture (Table 4). The lowest values were observed between the Anglesey 1 and the Anglesey 2 populations (global Fst = 0.16), while the highest global Fst estimate, double the one recorded between the two insular Welsh populations, was found between the Anglesey 2 and the Gwynedd populations (global Fst = 0.32).

Population pair	Global weighted Fst
Anglesey 1 - Anglesey 2	0.16
Anglesey 1 - Gwynedd	0.290
Anglesey 1 - Staffordshire	0.255
Anglesey 2 - Gwynedd	0.320
Anglesey 2 - Staffordshire	0.283
Staffordshire - Gwynedd	0.251

Table 4. Pairwise global weighted Fst values for UK adder population pairs.

5. DISCUSSION

5.1 High genetic diversity despite the lack of gene flow

Habitat fragmentation can lead to the disruption of gene flow between populations and patterns of strong population structuring (Keyghobadi, 2007; Wang *et al.* 2017; Schlaepfer *et al.* 2018). During the last few decades, the UK has undergone a drastic process of industrial agriculture intensification and urban expansion, drastically transforming land use and reducing the suitable habitat for a wide variety of taxa (Rushton *et al.* 2001; Rounsevell and Reay, 2009; Cole *et al.* 2022). Solely in England, the adder has lost almost 40% of its historic range (pre-2006), leading to the formation of isolated and potentially highly structured populations (Gleed-Owen and Langham, 2012; Gardner *et al.* 2018).

Among the assessed adder populations, high levels of population structuring and lack of gene flow between populations were recovered using whole-genome sequencing data as shown by lack of detectable admixture in NGSadmix analysis and the recovered Fst value between populations.

On a finer scale, intrapopulation structuring was not observed, as highlighted by the lack of signal recovered from ancestry analysis for k=5 (Appendix VII). In adder, population structuring has been correlated with habitat degradation (François *et al.* 2021). In particular, alteration of fine-scale vegetation structure (e.g. hedgerows) due to the intensification of agricultural activities and bad habitat management practises (Ball *et al.* 2020), is likely to play a role in population structure due to the increase in predation rate and the reduction of connectivity between suitable patches of habitat (Davies and Pullin, 2007; Worthington-Hill and Gill, 2019; Duchesne *et al.* 2022). This phenomenon is likely to have a stronger impact on juvenile adders which, due to their reduced size, represent a potential prey item for a wide

variety of avian and terrestrial predators (Herczeg *et al.* 2007). Ecological studies have in fact highlighted the crucial role of juvenile adders as the primary source of population emigration during the natal displacement process (Ursenbacher *et al.* 2009a; Hodges and Seabrook, 2019). As whole-genome sequencing data allow for the recovery of population structure at fine scale, even with limited samples (Ekblom and Wolf, 2014; Iannucci *et al.* 2021) the absence of evident structing within the assessed adder population seems to highlight how the abovementioned factors may not occur within the focal population, or their effects may still have to affect intrapopulation structure (but see Tolley *et al.* 2022).

On a wider scale, the lack of evidence for recent gene flow observed between the focal adder populations (Figure 6) is likely to be the product of rapid and extensive events of anthropogenic-led habitat loss and fragmentation (Gardner *et al.* 2019; Ball *et al.* 2020; Paijmans *et al.* 2021). Accordingly, the recovered Fst values between adder populations (Table 4) (Figure 10) seem to support the recent and drastic habitat fragmentation hypothesis due to the rapid response of genetic structure to habitat alteration (Tolley *et al.* 2022). Interestingly, Ursenbacher and colleagues (2009b) highlighted a lack of gene flow between Swiss adder populations even where habitat characteristics did not seem to limit individuals' dispersal abilities. Therefore, besides habitat fragmentation, the interplay of adder's high philopatry, reproductive ecology (sex-biased dispersal) and trophic ecology (ambush strategy), is likely to contribute to the herein reported patterns of population structuring and the observed lack of recent gene flow (Madsen and Shine 1992; Ursenbacher *et al.* 2009a; De Fraga *et al.* 2017).

Adders in the UK are currently restricted to extremely small and isolated populations (Gardner *et al.* 2019; Ball *et al.* 2020). According to the current theoretical framework, low genetic diversity may represent a threat to these populations (Ellstrand and Elam, 1993; Frankham *et al.* 2019).

Surprisingly, this seems not to be the case for the investigated UK adder populations. Instead, extremely high levels of average genome-wide heterozygosity were recovered among the assessed adder individuals and populations (Table 3). Even if on a different scale, these outcomes agree with the insights showcased by Ball and colleagues (2020), where high levels of heterozygosity, comparable to those from mainland European populations, were recovered in various UK adder populations. Similarly, high levels of heterozygosity despite significant population structure and decline were recovered within other Palearctic vipers. For example, Adavodi *et al.* (2019) found high levels of genetic diversity within small and genetically isolated populations of Caucasian pit vipers (*Gloydius caucasicus*). Recently, high levels of

heterozygosity were recovered among various small and isolated populations of two highly endangered vipers, the Hungarian meadow viper (Vipera ursinii rakosiensis) and the Moldavian meadow viper (Vipera ursinii moldavica) (Vörös et al. 2022). Nevertheless, it is important to highlight that the latter three studies employed traditional genetic markers (microsatellites) which tend to overestimate the real extent of genetic diversity due to the variable nature of these markers and via indirect estimations (Smeds and Ellegren, 2023). Nonetheless, the recovered average genome-wide heterozygosity values of the assessed adder populations were even higher or comparable to the heterozygosity values from remarkably highly diverse vertebrates (Figure 7) (Appendix VIII). For example, the vast majority of the focal adder populations were characterised by heterozygosity values higher than those from the yellow baboon (Heterozygosity = 1.68) and the chimpanzee (Heterozygosity = 1.08). Even if between species comparison of heterozygosity may be sometimes biased by differences in the applied bioinformatics pipelines (Ekblom et al. 2018), the herein reported comparison still provides an immediate picture of the extremely high levels of heterozygosity recovered among the assessed UK adder populations. The latter comparison further opens a question regarding the mechanisms underlying the highlighted high levels of genetic diversity. In fact, in addition to the relationship between gentic drift and population size (Kimura and Ohta, 1969), the high levels of heterozygosity that characterise a good proportion of the vertebrate taxa reported by Westbury et al. 2018 can be correlated with the presence of social structure (e.g. presence of individuals in a non-reproductive status) (Parreira and Chikhi, 2015; Parreira et al. 2020; Guevara et al. 2021). This correlation between genetic diversity and social structure has been highlighted in a wide variety of mammalian taxa (Winterrowd et al. 2009; Huchard et al. 2010; Parreira et al. 2020; Guevara et al. 2021). Nevertheless, due to the absence of social structure in adders, other more cryptic mechanisms must be involved in the maintenance of high genetic diversity. Madsen and colleagues (2023) correlated patterns of negative assortative mating with the high genetic diversity recovered within a small and isolated adder population in Sweden. Simulations and empirical evidence showcased how polyandry and non-random mating seems to promote heterozygosity within small and isolated adder populations.

Besides, effective ancestral population size and recent patterns of population decline may be further associated with the herein recovered extremely high levels of genetic diversity (Westbury *et al.* 2019; Iannucci *et al.* 2021; Xie *et al.* 2022). Long-term small effective population size has been correlated to current low levels of heterozygosity in various taxa (Westbury *et al.* 2018; Liu *et al.* 2021; Robinson *et al.* 2022; Mooney *et al.* 2023; Foote *et al.*
2023). On the other hand, the high levels of genetic diversity recovered among the focal adder populations may reflect the presence of large and interconnected ancestral populations characterised by high levels of heterozygosity (Armstrong *et al.* 2021; Von Seth *et al.* 2021). Similarly, remarkable levels of genetic diversity found in the endangered Armenian viper (*Montivipera raddei*) were correlated to historically large effective population and recent patterns of anthropogenic-led population decline (Ettling and Parker, 2017). Empirical and theoretical evidence highlighted how extreme and rapid bottleneck events are likely to only moderately reduce heterozygosity in the short term (Ralls *et al.* 1983; Beichman *et al.* 2023), as loss of genetic diversity may tend to "lag behind" population depletion (Lukoschek, 2018; Bradke *et al.* 2021; Salado *et al.* 2022; Tolley *et al.* 2022). Therefore, is plausible to assume that the herein recovered high levels of genetic diversity could be correlated to large ancestral effective population size and recent and extreme human-induced bottleneck events (Gardner *et al.* 2019; Ball *et al.* 2020). Consequently, the assessed adder populations may still have to face the genetic effects of this drastic population decline and their current population size (Sovic *et al.* 2019).

5.2 Hidden patterns of genomic erosion

According to the current theoretical framework, due to the extremely high levels of genetic diversity recovered among the assessed adder populations, the latter should not be considered a conservation concern, at least from the genetic point of view (Frankham, 2005; Market *et al.* 2010; García-Dorado and Caballero, 2021; Schmidt el al. 2023).

However, analyses aimed to assess the distribution of heterozygosity within the focal genomes revealed the presence of hidden patterns of genomic erosion (Figure 8). Specifically, within the investigated genomes, a high density of genomic windows of 100Kb characterised by heterozygosity values close to zero were recovered. These outcomes are likely to have profound consequences on the conservation of the investigated adder populations.

Firstly, the highlighted distribution of heterozygosity within the analysed genomes shows how genome-wide heterozygosity values may lead to misinterpretation and overestimation of the real genetic diversity. This may be correlated to the recovered skewed distribution of heterozygosity within the assessed adder genomes (Figure 8). Average genome-wide heterozygosity is widely used as a proxy for populations' genetic health (Schmidt *et al.* 2021), even if its relationship with populations' conservation status is not straightforward (Schmidt *et al.* 2023). Nonetheless, the herein reported results show that this widely employed parameter may lead to overestimating the real extent of genetic diversity while masking extensive patterns of genomic erosion. Therefore, caution must be used when average genome-wide heterozygosity is employed as the only metric to assess populations' genetic health.

Secondly, the highlighted pattern of genomic erosion and the known adder population history in the UK indirectly showcase the likely presence of Runs of Homozygosity (ROH) at high frequency within the assessed genomes (van Oosterhout *et al.* 2022). These represent contiguous homozygous genomic regions identically inherited from both parents (Gibson *et al.* 2006). The presence of the latter provides a window into the demographic history and future persistence of the assessed adder populations (Ceballos *et al.* 2018; Supple and Shapiro, 2018; Brüniche-Olsen *et al.* 2018). ROHs' distribution, length and abundance are in fact largely influenced by population demographic patterns (Curik *et al.* 2014; Ceballos *et al.* 2018; Dixit *et al.* 2020; Hewett *et al.* 2023). Therefore, contiguity of ROHs has been shown to be highly affected by haplotype recombination patterns, with shorter ROHs (< 1Mb) likely representing the product of historic population contractions and longer ROHs (>1 Mb) likely arising from recent bottleneck events (Jensen *et al.* 2021; Wotton *et al.* 2022; Martin *et al.* 2023; Mooney *et al.* 2023).

The scaffolds' length of the employed adder's reference genome does not allow for the length of the recovered ROH to be precisely estimated, therefore it is not possible to assess the relative proportion of long and short RHO within the assessed genomes. Nevertheless, it is possible to infer, with a discrete degree of certainty, the length of a part of the recovered RHOs on the basis of the known species' demographic patterns and the highlighted levels of heterozygosity. Empirical evidence have shown a devastating and rapid country-wide population collapse of the adder during the last few decades (Baker et al. 2002; Gleed-Owen and Langham, 2012; Gardner et al. 2019; Ball et al. 2020). Thus, it is possible to assume that a good proportion of the recovered ROHs may represent long stretches of ROHs arose during the recent population decline (Wilder et al. 2022). Moreover, the extremely high levels of genome-wide heterozygosity highlighted by the analyses, despite the small population size of the assessed populations the lack of gene flow among populations, and the herein reported pattern of genomic erosion, argue in favour of a recent and exceptionally rapid population collapse. This contrasting pattern has been highlighted within two canid taxa characterised by recent population collapse histories, the Mexican wolf (Canis lupus baileyi) and the grey wolf from Isle Royale wolf (Canis lupus) (Robinson et al. 2019). Similarly, high heterozygosity

despite the presence of long ROHs has been correlated to human-mediated population decline in Indian tigers (*Panthera tigris*) (Armstrong *et al.* 2021).

Consequently, it is possible to assume that a discrete proportion of the recovered ROHs within the assessed adder genomes are likely to represent long ROHs arose due to recent and extremely rapid population decline. Therefore, this outcome may highlight recent inbreeding patterns within the assessed adder populations. Inbreeding patterns were not recovered within previous population genetic studies on UK adders (Ball *et al.* 2020). As even low levels of inbreeding are known to have drastic consequences on species' fitness and reproductive abilities (Huisman *et al.* 2016), further investigations are required. Moreover, these outcomes showcase the higher ability of the whole-genome sequencing approach in recovering fine demographic patterns compared to more traditional genetic methods (Iannucci *et al.* 2021). However, it is possible to argue that the presence of ROH in the genomes of the focal adders may be correlated with the presence of mechanisms of non-random mating (Li *et al.* 2006). Despite that, ROHs arising as a product of this phenomenon are expected to be present within the genome at low frequency (Martin *et al.* 2023), which appears to be in contrast with the high-frequency levels herein reported.

Taking into consideration the known demographic history of the adder in the UK, the current population status of the species, and the herein reported contrasting genetic patterns, a concerning scenario arises. In fact, the assessed adder populations are likely to have undergone a drastic and rapid population collapse and fragmentation starting from historically large and well-interconnected ancestral populations (see section 5.1). This phenomenon may have had a negative impact on the presence and frequency of deleterious alleles within adders' genomes.

While individuals from small populations characterised by stable demographic histories and small ancestral population sizes seem to harbour a lower number of extremely deleterious alleles within their genomes thanks to the effect of genetic purging (García-Dorado, 2012; Xie *et al.* 2022; Kleinman-Ruiz *et al.* 2022; Wotton *et al.* 2023; Stanhope *et al.* 2023; Mooney *et al.* 2023). On the other hand, the genomes of individuals from small and fragmented populations characterised by large ancestral population size which have undergone recent population contractions seem to be characterised by a significantly higher number of extremely deleterious alleles (Hu *et al.* 2020; Kyriazis *et al.* 2021; Tian *et al.* 2022; Zhang *et al.* 2022; Smeds and Ellegren, 2023; Quinn *et al.* 2023). Although between-species comparison regarding the effect of demographic patterns on the frequency of deleterious alleles and relative fitness consequences can be hard to make (Dussex *et al.*

2021), the current theoretical framework suggests an increase of deleterious alleles within the focal adder populations due to recent bottleneck events, a hypothesis likely supported by the herein recovered patterns of genomic erosion. Even if the assessed UK adder populations did not yet present worrying signs of fitness decrease, such as those found within the highly inbred Swedish adder population of Smygehuk (Madsen *et al.* 1996, 2011), it is likely that these populations have still to showcase the fitness consequences correlated with the observed patterns of genomic erosion (von Oosterhout *et al.* 2022).

In the near future, access to a higher-quality reference genome for the adder will allow the length and the origin of the here identified ROHs to be precisely estimated and the presence of extremely deleterious alleles and their future effects on the adders' fitness to be quantified.

5.3 The potential for genetic rescue

Despite the extremely high level of heterozygosity recovered within the assessed adder populations, genomic erosion coupled with the current small population size is likely to lead to a future decrease in heterozygosity, an increase of ROH regions, enhancement of mutational load, and eventually local extinction (Bijlsma et al. 2012; von Seth et al. 2021; Sánchez-Barreiro et al. 2021; van Oosterhout et al. 2022). While cryptic mechanisms (polyandry and non-random mating) may have played a role in maintaining the recovered high levels of heterozygosity despite recent population declines and the lack of interpopulation gene flow patterns, under future scenarios of genetic diversity and population collapse, these mechanisms are unlikely to be sufficient in assuring the persistence of the populations (Wood et al. 2020; Madsen et al. 2023). For these reasons, genetic conservation measures such as genetic rescue, may be needed in the near future in order to assure the persistence of the assessed populations (Ingvarsson, 2001; Frankham, 2015). However, genetic rescue measures require preliminary genetic data from both donor and recipient populations to maximise the conservation benefits and avoid outbreeding depression (Whiteley et al. 2015; Bell et al. 2019; Frankham et al. 2019). Thus, taking into consideration the positive results obtained via genetic rescue in adders (Madsen et al. 2020) and in a wide variety of other vertebrate taxa (e.g. Hogg et al. 2006; Pimm et al. 2006; Åkesson et al. 2016), the potential of genetic rescue within the assessed adder populations was therefore explored.

Fixation of the whole population for a single allele represents the dead-end of the inbreeding process, causing the complete loss of adaptation potential (Otto and Whitlock, 1997; Barret and Schluter, 2008). Therefore, nucleotide diversity can be exploited to assess this

intrapopulation degree of genomic fixation and compare results between populations. The analyses highlighted moderate levels of genomic fixation (measured via nucleotide diversity) between individuals from the same population (Figure 9). In some cases, strong habitat fragmentation within a single population has been shown to lead to the formation of fragmented and isolated subpopulations characterised by compatible fixed genomic regions, favouring in this way the population's overall genetic diversity (e.g. Löytynoja *et al.* 2023). The recovered levels of intrapopulation genomic fixation highlighted by the analyses argue against this possibility. Instead, it is likely that within population genetic exchange, due to the incompatibility between the fixed genomic regions, will lead to a decrease in the overall populations' genetic diversity (Frankham, 2003, 2005; Frankham *et al.* 2019). Thus, without human intervention (e.g. genetic rescue, creation of habitat corridors, etc...) the assessed populations, even if at different rates, are likely to lose genetic diversity and suffer the relative consequences. Therefore, the potential for anthropogenic-mediated migration of individuals between the assessed adder populations was investigated.

A lack of shared fixed genomic regions (high Fst values) was recovered between most of the adder populations (Figure 10) (Table 4). These results highlighted between population discrete levels of genetic compatibility in terms of genomic window fixation, arguing in favour of potential conservation benefits of future genetic rescue initiatives (Saremi et al. 2019). Nevertheless, extensive genomic fixation (low Fst value) was recovered between the two Anglesey populations (Fst = 0.16). This outcome argues against the translocation of individuals between the latter populations, as such intervention is likely to provide little if no conservation benefits (Fitzpatrick and Funk, 2019; Byrne et al. 2021; Melis et al. 2022). Interestingly enough, the current theoretical framework portrays geographic proximity as one of the main factors to take into consideration during the choice of both donor and recipient populations in the context of genetic rescue actions (Frankham et al. 2011,2019). Geographically close populations are in fact more likely to be adapted to similar environmental conditions, lowering in this way the possibility of diluting genetically adapted variations with the introduction of foreign alleles (Tallmon et al. 2004). The quality of the currently available adder reference genome did not allow for the genes within the recovered fixed genomic windows to be identified. For this reason, it is not possible to completely exclude that the highlighted fixation pattern may be correlated with environmentally adapted variations shared between the two Anglesey populations. In spite of that, taking into consideration the contrasting environments inhabited by the two adder populations, it is more likely that the recovered fixation pattern may be correlated with the shared demographic

history of the two populations (Kitada *et al.* 2021). Consequently, these results seem to suggest that higher conservation benefits may be achieved with the introduction of individuals adders from the geographically distant mainland populations (Gwynedd and Staffordshire) within the two Anglesey populations.

However, caution must be used during the translocation of individuals coming from populations characterised by different population sizes. In fact, populations characterised by larger effective population size may harbour a higher proportion of deleterious heterozygous alleles (hidden mutational load) due to the lower influence of purging (Khan *et al.* 2021; Pérez-Pereira *et al.* 2022). Thus, the introduction of foreign deleterious alleles within populations characterised by small effective population sizes can lead to a critical loss in fitness via the expression of those alleles, which are not purged out of the gene pool due to population-size constraints (Kyriazis *et al.* 2021; Ochoa *et al.* 2022). Therefore, the herein reported results represent only a preliminary investigation and further genome scanning and quantification of individuals 'mutational loads are required before taking into consideration any genetic rescue actions (Wotton *et al.* 2022).

6. CONCLUSION

6.1 Conclusions and future perspectives

A growing body of empirical evidence has highlighted the dramatic population decline affecting the UK adders, pointing the attention towards necessary conservation measures. Using a pioneering approach based on whole-genome sequencing data, this study provided detailed data regarding the genetic health of four UK adder populations characterised by different population sizes and biogeographic histories. Surprisingly, extremely high levels of genome-wide genetic diversity were recovered within all the assessed populations despite strong population structure and the lack of gene flow between populations. Nevertheless, further analyses revealed hidden patterns of genomic erosion, shining a light on the future potential genetic collapse of the assessed populations. This contrasting pattern is likely to be the product of the historical presence of large and interconnected ancestral populations, which have recently undergone rapid and extreme population collapse.

Anthropogenic habitat loss and degradation, coupled with the further fragmentation of the adder populations are excepted to negatively impact the persistence of the species in the UK (Gardner *et al.* 2019; Julian and Hodges, 2019; Guiller *et al.* 2022; Duchesne *et al.* 2022).

Moreover, the persistence of the species seems to be further compromised by future climatic scenarios (Trumbo *et al.* 2021; Jørgensen *et al.* 2022; Dezetter *et al.* 2022; Turner and Maclean, 2022; Garcia-Costoya *et al.* 2023; Madsen *et al.* 2023). For these reasons, human-mediated actions aimed to conserve genetic adaptive potential via the preservation of high levels of genetic diversity will be likely essential in the near future.

While this study refrains from providing conservation managers with formal directions regarding the conservation of the assessed UK adder populations, the preliminary results herein reported argue for the future implementation of genetic rescue.

Despite this study representing a pilot initiative limited by the restricted sample size and the quality of the current adder reference genome, it still showcased the various benefits correlated with the use of whole-genome sequencing data in the context of population and conservation genetic studies. In particular, despite the small sample size, it was possible to recover spatially fine patterns of population structure and accurately assess the genetic health of the investigated populations. This study placed the foundations for further population genetic studies, where the implementation of whole-genome sequencing data and a higher quality (chromosome level) reference genome, may allow for the fitness impact of adders' mutation loads and the ability to adapt to future climatic scenarios to be assessed (Aguirre-Liguori *et al.* 2022; Bertorelle *et al.* 2022). Future decrease in cost of whole-genome sequencing and automation of bioinformatic pipelines may further increase the effectiveness and application of this approach in the funds-deprived field of wildlife conservation.

REFERENCES

- Abdul-Muneer, P.M., 2014. Application of microsatellite markers in conservation genetics and fisheries management: recent advances in population structure analysis and conservation strategies. *Genetics research international*, 2014.
- Adavodi, R., Khosravi, R., Cushman, S.A. and Kaboli, M., 2019. Topographical features and forest cover influence landscape connectivity and gene flow of the Caucasian pit viper, *Gloydius caucasicus* (Nikolsky, 1916), in Iran. *Landscape Ecology*, 34, pp.2615-2630.
- Aguirre-Liguori, J.A., Ramírez-Barahona, S. and Gaut, B.S., 2021. The evolutionary genomics of species' responses to climate change. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, *5*(10), pp.1350-1360.

- Aiello, D., Ferradini, N., Torelli, L., Volpi, C., Lambalk, J., Russi, L. and Albertini, E., 2020. Evaluation of cross-species transferability of SSR markers in *Foeniculum vulgare*. *Plants*, 9(2), p.175.
- Åkesson, M., Liberg, O., Sand, H., Wabakken, P., Bensch, S. and Flagstad, Ø., 2016. Genetic rescue in a severely inbred wolf population. *Molecular ecology*, *25*(19), pp.4745-4756.
- Alhusain, L. and Hafez, A.M., 2018. Nonparametric approaches for population structure analysis. *Human genomics*, *12*(1), pp.1-12.
- Andrews, K.R., Good, J.M., Miller, M.R., Luikart, G. and Hohenlohe, P.A., 2016. Harnessing the power of RADseq for ecological and evolutionary genomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 17(2), pp.81-92.
- Angers, B., Estoup, A. and Jarne, P., 2000. Microsatellite size homoplasy, SSCP, and population structure: a case study in the freshwater snail *Bulinus truncatus*. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 17(12), pp.1926-1932.
- Aragón, P., Rodríguez, M.A., Olalla-Tárraga, M.A. and Lobo, J.M., 2010. Predicted impact of climate change on threatened terrestrial vertebrates in central Spain highlights differences between endotherms and ectotherms. *Animal Conservation*, 13(4), pp.363-373.
- Armstrong, E.E., Khan, A., Taylor, R.W., Gouy, A., Greenbaum, G., Thiéry, A., Kang, J.T., Redondo, S.A., Prost, S., Barsh, G. and Kaelin, C., 2021. Recent evolutionary history of tigers highlights contrasting roles of genetic drift and selection. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 38(6), pp.2366-2379.
- Arnold, B., Corbett-Detig, R.B., Hartl, D. and Bomblies, K., 2013. RAD seq underestimates diversity and introduces genealogical biases due to non-random haplotype sampling. *Molecular ecology*, 22(11), pp.3179-3190.
- Baker, J., Suckling, J. and Carey, R., 2002. Status of the adder *Vipera berus* and the slowworm *Anguis fragilis* in England.
- Ball, S., Hand, N., Willman, F., Durrant, C., Uller, T., Claus, K., Mergeay, J., Bauwens, D. and Garner, T.W., 2020. Genetic and demographic vulnerability of adder populations: results of a genetic study in mainland Britain. *PloS one*, 15(4), p.e0231809.
- Barbanera, F., Zuffi, M.A., Guerrini, M., Gentilli, A., Tofanelli, S., Fasola, M. and Dini, F., 2009. Molecular phylogeography of the asp viper *Vipera aspis* (Linnaeus, 1758) in Italy: evidence for introgressive hybridization and mitochondrial DNA capture. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 52(1), pp.103-114.

- Barbara, T., PALMA-SILVA, C.L.A.R.I.S.S.E., Paggi, G.M., Bered, F., Fay, M.F. and Lexer, C., 2007. Cross-species transfer of nuclear microsatellite markers: potential and limitations. *Molecular ecology*, 16(18), pp.3759-3767.
- Barbosa, S., Hendricks, S.A., Funk, W.C., Rajora, O.P. and Hohenlohe, P.A., 2020. Wildlife Population Genomics: Applications and Approaches. *Population Genomics: Wildlife*, pp.3-59.
- Barrett, R.D. and Schluter, D., 2008. Adaptation from standing genetic variation. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 23(1), pp.38-44.
- Beichman, A.C., Kalhori, P., Kyriazis, C.C., DeVries, A.A., Nigenda-Morales, S., Heckel, G., Schramm, Y., Moreno-Estrada, A., Kennett, D.J., Hylkema, M. and Bodkin, J., 2023. Genomic analyses reveal range-wide devastation of sea otter populations. Molecular Ecology, 32(2), pp.281-298.
- Bell, D.A., Robinson, Z.L., Funk, W.C., Fitzpatrick, S.W., Allendorf, F.W., Tallmon, D.A. and Whiteley, A.R., 2019. The exciting potential and remaining uncertainties of genetic rescue. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 34(12), pp.1070-1079.
- Benjelloun, B., Boyer, F., Streeter, I., Zamani, W., Engelen, S., Alberti, A., Alberto, F.J., BenBati, M., Ibnelbachyr, M., Chentouf, M. and Bechchari, A., 2019. An evaluation of sequencing coverage and genotyping strategies to assess neutral and adaptive diversity. *Molecular ecology resources*, 19(6), pp.1497-1515.
- Benson, J.F., Hostetler, J.A., Onorato, D.P., Johnson, W.E., Roelke, M.E., O'Brien, S.J., Jansen, D. and Oli, M.K., 2011. Intentional genetic introgression influences survival of adults and subadults in a small, inbred felid population. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 80(5), pp.958-967.
- Benton, T.G., Bieg, C., Harwatt, H., Pudasaini, R. and Wellesley, L., 2021. Food system impacts on biodiversity loss. *Three levers for food system transformation in support of nature. Chatham House, London.*
- Bertorelle, G., Raffini, F., Bosse, M., Bortoluzzi, C., Iannucci, A., Trucchi, E., Morales, H.E. and Van Oosterhout, C., 2022. Genetic load: genomic estimates and applications in nonmodel animals. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 23(8), pp.492-503.
- Bijlsma, R. and Loeschcke, V., 2012. Genetic erosion impedes adaptive responses to stressful environments. *Evolutionary Applications*, *5*(2), pp.117-129.
- Bijlsma, R., Bundgaard, J. and Boerema, A.C., 2000. Does inbreeding affect the extinction risk of small populations?: predictions from *Drosophila*. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 13(3), pp.502-514.

- Bizon, C., Spiegel, M., Chasse, S.A., Gizer, I.R., Li, Y., Malc, E.P., Mieczkowski, P.A., Sailsbery, J.K., Wang, X., Ehlers, C.L. and Wilhelmsen, K.C., 2014. Variant calling in low-coverage whole genome sequencing of a Native American population sample. *BMC genomics*, 15(1), pp.1-10.
- Blaxter, M., Archibald, J.M., Childers, A.K., Coddington, J.A., Crandall, K.A., Di Palma, F., Durbin, R., Edwards, S.V., Graves, J.A., Hackett, K.J. and Hall, N., 2022. Why sequence all eukaryotes?. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(4).
- Bohling, J., 2020. Evaluating the effect of reference genome divergence on the analysis of empirical RADseq datasets. *Ecology and evolution*, *10*(14), pp.7585-7601.
- Bradke, D.R., Altobelli, J.T., Russell, A.L., Jaeger, C.P. and Moore, J.A., 2021. Low bottleneck detection in long-lived species despite lost genetic diversity: a case study of tuatara and eastern massasauga rattlesnakes. Journal of Heredity, 112(4), pp.346-356.
- Brandies, P., Peel, E., Hogg, C.J. and Belov, K., 2019. The value of reference genomes in the conservation of threatened species. *Genes*, *10*(11), p.846.
- Breininger, D.R., Mazerolle, M.J., Bolt, M.R., Legare, M.L., Drese, J.H. and Hines, J.E., 2012. Habitat fragmentation effects on annual survival of the federally protected eastern indigo snake. *Animal Conservation*, 15(4), pp.361-368.
- BRIG, 2007. Report on the Species and Habitat Review (Report by the Biodiversity Reporting and Information Group (BRIG) to the UK Standing Committee).
- Brown, W.S., 1993. Biology, status and management of the timber rattlesnake (*Crotalus horridus*): a guide for conservation. *Herpetological Circulars*, 22, pp.1-78.
- Brüniche-Olsen, A., Kellner, K.F., Anderson, C.J. and DeWoody, J.A., 2018. Runs of homozygosity have utility in mammalian conservation and evolutionary studies. *Conservation Genetics*, 19(6), pp.1295-1307.
- Byrne, A.Q., Richards-Zawacki, C.L., Voyles, J., Bi, K., Ibáñez, R. and Rosenblum, E.B., 2021. Whole exome sequencing identifies the potential for genetic rescue in iconic and critically endangered Panamanian harlequin frogs. *Global Change Biology*, 27(1), pp.50-70.
- Ceballos, F.C., Joshi, P.K., Clark, D.W., Ramsay, M. and Wilson, J.F., 2018. Runs of homozygosity: windows into population history and trait architecture. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 19(4), pp.220-234.
- Chapuis, M.P. and Estoup, A., 2007. Microsatellite null alleles and estimation of population differentiation. *Molecular biology and evolution*, *24*(3), pp.621-631.

- Chat, V., Ferguson, R., Morales, L. and Kirchhoff, T., 2021. Ultra low-coverage whole genome sequencing (ulcWGS) as an alternative to genotyping arrays in genome-wide association studies (GWASs). *Frontiers in genetics*, p.2712.
- Chisholm, R.A., Lim, F., Yeoh, Y.S., Seah, W.W., Condit, R. and Rosindell, J., 2018. Species–area relationships and biodiversity loss in fragmented landscapes. *Ecology Letters*, 21(6), pp.804-813.
- Clark, R.W., Brown, W.S., Stechert, R. and Zamudio, K.R., 2008. Integrating individual behaviour and landscape genetics: the population structure of timber rattlesnake hibernacula. *Molecular ecology*, *17*(3), pp.719-730.
- Cole, B., Smith, G., de la Barreda-Bautista, B., Hamer, A., Payne, M., Codd, T., Johnson, S.C., Chan, L.Y. and Balzter, H., 2022. Dynamic landscapes in the UK driven by pressures from energy production and forestry—Results of the CORINE Land Cover map 2018. *Land*, 11(2), p.192.
- Coltman, D.W. and Slate, J., 2003. Microsatellite measures of inbreeding: a metaanalysis. *Evolution*, *57*(5), pp.971-983.
- Cook, F., 2004. Recovery of Nationally Endangered Wildlife in Canada (RENEW) 2004;
 Calendar of Endangered Reptiles of Canada 2004 and 2005; Canadian Species at Risk
 November 2004; Froglog; The Boreal Dip Net/L'Epuisette Boreale; Marine Turtle
 Newsletter; WARS 1983-2002. *The Canadian Field-Naturalist*, *118*(4), pp.644-645.
- Cui, S., Luo, X., Chen, D., Sun, J., Chu, H., Li, C. and Jiang, Z., 2016. The adder (*Vipera berus*) in Southern Altay Mountains: population characteristics, distribution, morphology and phylogenetic position. *PeerJ*, *4*, p.e2342.
- Curik, I., Ferenčaković, M. and Sölkner, J., 2014. Inbreeding and runs of homozygosity: A possible solution to an old problem. *Livestock Science*, *166*, pp.26-34.
- Cushman, S.A., 2006. Effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on amphibians: a review and prospectus. *Biological conservation*, *128*(2), pp.231-240.
- Danecek, P., Bonfield, J.K., Liddle, J., Marshall, J., Ohan, V., Pollard, M.O., Whitwham, A., Keane, T., McCarthy, S.A., Davies, R.M. and Li, H., 2021. Twelve years of SAMtools and BCFtools. *Gigascience*, 10(2), p.giab008.
- Davey, J.W. and Blaxter, M.L., 2010. RADSeq: next-generation population genetics. *Briefings in functional genomics*, 9(5-6), pp.416-423.
- Davies, Z.G. and Pullin, A.S., 2007. Are hedgerows effective corridors between fragments of woodland habitat? An evidence-based approach. *Landscape ecology*, 22, pp.333-351.

- De Fraga, R., Lima, A.P., Magnusson, W.E., Ferrão, M. and Stow, A.J., 2017. Contrasting patterns of gene flow for Amazonian snakes that actively forage and those that wait in ambush. Journal of Heredity, 108(5), pp.524-534.
- de Massary, J, in UICN France, MNHN & SHF (2015). La Liste rouge des espèces menacées en France Chapitre Reptiles et Amphibiens de France métropolitaine.
- DeWoody, J.A., Harder, A.M., Mathur, S. and Willoughby, J.R., 2021. The long-standing significance of genetic diversity in conservation. *Molecular Ecology*, 30(17), pp.4147-4154.
- Dezetter, M., Le Galliard, J.F. and Lourdais, O., 2021. Comprendre les effets combinés des canicules et sécheresses sur les vipères: une nécessité pour orienter les mesures de conservation de ces espèces en France.
- Di Nicola, M.R., Coppari, L., Notomista, T. and Marini, D., 2022. *Ophidiomyces ophidiicola* detection and infection: a global review on a potential threat to the world's snake populations. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, 68(5), pp.1-29.
- Dixit, S.P., Singh, S., Ganguly, I., Bhatia, A.K., Sharma, A., Kumar, N.A., Dang, A.K. and Jayakumar, S., 2020. Genome-wide runs of homozygosity revealed selection signatures in *Bos indicus. Frontiers in Genetics*, 11, p.92.
- Dixo, M., Metzger, J.P., Morgante, J.S. and Zamudio, K.R., 2009. Habitat fragmentation reduces genetic diversity and connectivity among toad populations in the Brazilian Atlantic Coastal Forest. *Biological Conservation*, 142(8), pp.1560-1569.
- Duchesne, T., Graitson, E., Lourdais, O., Ursenbacher, S. and Dufrêne, M., 2022. Fine-scale vegetation complexity and habitat structure influence predation pressure on a declining snake. *Journal of Zoology*, 318(3), pp.205-217.
- Dussex, N., Van Der Valk, T., Morales, H.E., Wheat, C.W., Díez-del-Molino, D., Von Seth,
 J., Foster, Y., Kutschera, V.E., Guschanski, K., Rhie, A. and Phillippy, A.M., 2021.
 Population genomics of the critically endangered kākāpō. *Cell Genomics*, 1(1), p.100002.
- Edgar, P. and Bird, D.R., 2005. Action plan for the conservation of the meadow viper (*Vipera ursinii*) in Europe. *T-PVS/Inf* (2005), 1.
- Edmands, S., 2007. Between a rock and a hard place: evaluating the relative risks of inbreeding and outbreeding for conservation and management. *Molecular ecology*, *16*(3), pp.463-475.
- Ekblom, R. and Wolf, J.B., 2014. A field guide to whole-genome sequencing, assembly and annotation. *Evolutionary applications*, 7(9), pp.1026-1042.

- Ekblom, R., Brechlin, B., Persson, J., Smeds, L., Johansson, M., Magnusson, J., Flagstad, Ø. and Ellegren, H., 2018. Genome sequencing and conservation genomics in the Scandinavian wolverine population. *Conservation Biology*, *32*(6), pp.1301-1312.
- Elhaik, E., 2022. Principal component analyses (PCA)-based findings in population genetic studies are highly biased and must be reevaluated. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), p.14683.
- Ellstrand, N.C. and Elam, D.R., 1993. Population genetic consequences of small population size: implications for plant conservation. *Annual review of Ecology and Systematics*, 24(1), pp.217-242.
- Estoup, A., Jarne, P. and Cornuet, J.M., 2002. Homoplasy and mutation model at microsatellite loci and their consequences for population genetics analysis. *Molecular ecology*, *11*(9), pp.1591-1604.
- Ettling, J.A. and Parker, P.G., 2017. Genetic diversity and population structure of Armenian vipers, *Montivipera raddei*, in two landscapes: Implications for conservation. *Herpetological Conservation and Biology*, *12*(2), pp.435-446.
- Eyvindson, K., Repo, A. and Mönkkönen, M., 2018. Mitigating forest biodiversity and ecosystem service losses in the era of bio-based economy. *Forest Policy and Economics*, *92*, pp.119-127.
- Fahrig, L., 2002. Effect of habitat fragmentation on the extinction threshold: a synthesis. *Ecological applications*, *12*(2), pp.346-353.
- Fischer, M.C., Rellstab, C., Leuzinger, M., Roumet, M., Gugerli, F., Shimizu, K.K., Holderegger, R. and Widmer, A., 2017. Estimating genomic diversity and population differentiation–an empirical comparison of microsatellite and SNP variation in *Arabidopsis halleri*. *BMC genomics*, 18(1), pp.1-15.
- Flanagan, S.P. and Jones, A.G., 2018. Substantial differences in bias between single-digest and double-digest RAD-seq libraries: a case study. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 18(2), pp.264-280.
- Flanagan, S.P. and Jones, A.G., 2019. The future of parentage analysis: from microsatellites to SNPs and beyond. *Molecular Ecology*, *28*(3), pp.544-567.
- Foote, A.D., Alexander, A., Ballance, L.T., Constantine, R., Galletti Vernazzani Muñoz, B., Guinet, C., Robertson, K.M., Sinding, M.H.S., Sironi, M., Tixier, P. and Totterdell, J., 2023. "Type D" killer whale genomes reveal long-term small population size and low genetic diversity. *Journal of Heredity*, 114(2), pp.94-109.
- Foote, A.D., Hooper, R., Alexander, A., Baird, R.W., Baker, C.S., Ballance, L., Barlow, J., Brownlow, A., Collins, T., Constantine, R. and Dalla Rosa, L., 2021. Runs of

homozygosity in killer whale genomes provide a global record of demographic histories. *Molecular Ecology*, *30*(23), pp.6162-6177.

- Foster, J., Driver, D., Ward, R. & Wilkinson, J. (2021). IUCN Red List assessment of amphibians and reptiles at Great Britain and country scale. Report to Natural England. ARC report
- François, D., Ursenbacher, S., Boissinot, A., Ysnel, F. and Lourdais, O., 2021. Isolation-bydistance and male-biased dispersal at a fine spatial scale: a study of the common European adder (*Vipera berus*) in a rural landscape. *Conservation Genetics*, 22(5), pp.823-837.
- Frankham, R., 2003. Genetics and conservation biology. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, 326, pp.22-29.
- Frankham, R., 2005. Genetics and extinction. Biological conservation, 126(2), pp.131-140.
- Frankham, R., 2015. Genetic rescue of small inbred populations: meta-analysis reveals large and consistent benefits of gene flow. *Molecular ecology*, 24(11), pp.2610-2618.
- Frankham, R., Ballou, J.D., Eldridge, M.D., Lacy, R.C., Ralls, K., Dudash, M.R. and Fenster, C.B., 2011. Predicting the probability of outbreeding depression. *Conservation Biology*, 25(3), pp.465-475.
- Frankham, R., Ballou, J.D., Ralls, K., Eldridge, M., Dudash, M.R., Fenster, C.B., Lacy, R.C. and Sunnucks, P., 2019. A practical guide for genetic management of fragmented animal and plant populations. Oxford University Press.
- Freitas, I., Ursenbacher, S., Mebert, K., Zinenko, O., Schweiger, S., Wüster, W., Brito, J.C., Crnobrnja-Isailović, J., Halpern, B., Fahd, S. and Santos, X., 2020. Evaluating taxonomic inflation: towards evidence-based species delimitation in Eurasian vipers (Serpentes: Viperinae). *Amphibia-Reptilia*, 41(3), pp.285-311.
- Fuentes-Pardo, A.P. and Ruzzante, D.E., 2017. Whole-genome sequencing approaches for conservation biology: advantages, limitations and practical recommendations. *Molecular ecology*, 26(20), pp.5369-5406.
- Fumagalli, M., 2013. Assessing the effect of sequencing depth and sample size in population genetics inferences. *PloS one*, 8(11), p.e79667.
- Fumagalli, M., Vieira, F.G., Linderoth, T. and Nielsen, R., 2014. ngsTools: methods for population genetics analyses from next-generation sequencing data. *Bioinformatics*, 30(10), pp.1486-1487.
- Gabriel, W. and Bürger, R., 1992. Survival of small populations under demographic stochasticity. *Theoretical Population Biology*, *41*(1), pp.44-71.

- Galla, S.J., Forsdick, N.J., Brown, L., Hoeppner, M.P., Knapp, M., Maloney, R.F., Moraga, R., Santure, A.W. and Steeves, T.E., 2018. Reference genomes from distantly related species can be used for discovery of single nucleotide polymorphisms to inform conservation management. *Genes*, 10(1), p.9.
- García-Dorado, A. and Caballero, A., 2021. Neutral genetic diversity as a useful tool for conservation biology. *Conservation Genetics*, 22(4), pp.541-545.
- García-Dorado, A., 2012. Understanding and predicting the fitness decline of shrunk populations: inbreeding, purging, mutation, and standard selection. *Genetics*, *190*(4), pp.1461-1476.
- Garcia-Costoya, G., Williams, C.E., Faske, T.M., Moorman, J.D. and Logan, M.L., 2023. Evolutionary constraints mediate extinction risk under climate change. *Ecology Letters*, 26(4), pp.529-539.
- Gardner, E., Julian, A., Monk, C. and Baker, J., 2019. Make the Adder Count: population trends from a citizen science survey of UK adders. *Herpetological Journal*, *29*, pp.57-70.
- Gentilli, A., Sacchi, R. and Scali, S., 2006. Morphometric differences between extant and extinct Italian populations of the adder," *Vipera berus*"(Linnaeus, 1758). Morphometric differences between extant and extinct Italian populations of the adder," *Vipera berus*"(*Linnaeus*, 1758), pp.1000-1007.
- Gibson-Reinemer, D.K., Sheldon, K.S. and Rahel, F.J., 2015. Climate change creates rapid species turnover in montane communities. *Ecology and Evolution*, *5*(12), pp.2340-2347.
- Gibson, J., Morton, N.E. and Collins, A., 2006. Extended tracts of homozygosity in outbred human populations. *Human molecular genetics*, *15*(5), pp.789-795.
- Gleed-Owen, C. and Langham, S., 2012. The Adder Status Project–a conservation condition assessment of the adder (*Vipera berus*) in England, with recommendations for future monitoring and conservation policy. *Report to Amphibian and Reptile Conservation. ARC, Bournemouth, UK.*
- Grano, M., Meier, G., Cattaneo, C., 2017. Vipere Italiane. Gli ultimi studi sulla sistematica, l'ecologia e la storia naturale. Castel Negrino edizioni.
- Guevara, E.E., Webster, T.H., Lawler, R.R., Bradley, B.J., Greene, L.K., Ranaivonasy, J., Ratsirarson, J., Harris, R.A., Liu, Y., Murali, S. and Raveendran, M., 2021. Comparative genomic analysis of sifakas (*Propithecus*) reveals selection for folivory and high heterozygosity despite endangered status. *Science Advances*, 7(17), p.eabd2274.

- Guichoux, E., Lagache, L., Wagner, S., Chaumeil, P., Léger, P., Lepais, O., Lepoittevin, C., Malausa, T., Revardel, E., Salin, F. and Petit, R.J., 2011. Current trends in microsatellite genotyping. *Molecular ecology resources*, 11(4), pp.591-611.
- Guiller, G., Legentilhomme, J., Boissinot, A., Blouin-Demers, G., Barbraud, C. and Lourdais,
 O., 2022. Response of farmland reptiles to agricultural intensification: Collapse of the
 common adder *Vipera berus* and the western green lizard *Lacerta bilineata* in a hedgerow
 landscape. *Animal Conservation*, 25(6), pp.849-864.
- Hale ML, Burg TM, Steeves TE (2012) Sampling for Microsatellite-Based Population Genetic Studies: 25 to 30 Individuals per Population Is Enough to Accurately Estimate Allele Frequencies. PLOS ONE 7(9): e45170.
- Hauser, S.S., Athrey, G. and Leberg, P.L., 2021. Waste not, want not: microsatellites remain an economical and informative technology for conservation genetics. *Ecology and evolution*, 11(22), pp.15800-15814.
- Hedgecock, D., Li, G., Hubert, S., Bucklin, K. and Ribes, V., 2004. Widespread null alleles and poor cross-species amplification of microsatellite DNA loci cloned from the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. *Journal of Shellfish Research*, *23*(2), pp.379-386.
- Hendricks, S., Anderson, E.C., Antao, T., Bernatchez, L., Forester, B.R., Garner, B., Hand, B.K., Hohenlohe, P.A., Kardos, M., Koop, B. and Sethuraman, A., 2018. Recent advances in conservation and population genomics data analysis. *Evolutionary Applications*, 11(8), pp.1197-1211.
- Hens, H., Pakanen, V.M., Jäkäläniemi, A., Tuomi, J. and Kvist, L., 2017. Low population viability in small endangered orchid populations: genetic variation, seedling recruitment and stochasticity. *Biological Conservation*, 210, pp.174-183.
- Herczeg, G., Gonda, A., Perälä, J., Saarikivi, J., Tuomola, A. and Merilä, J., 2007.
 Ontogenetic differences in the preferred body temperature of the European adder *Vipera berus*. *The Herpetological Journal*, *17*(1), pp.58-61.
- Hewett, A.M., Stoffel, M.A., Peters, L., Johnston, S.E. and Pemberton, J.M., 2023. Selection, recombination and population history effects on runs of homozygosity (ROH) in wild red deer (*Cervus elaphus*). *Heredity*, pp.1-9.
- Hodges, R.J. and Seabrook, C., 2019. Emigration and seasonal migration of the northern viper (*Vipera berus*) in a chalk grassland reserve. *Herpetological Bulletin*, (148).
- Hogg, C.J., Ottewell, K., Latch, P., Rossetto, M., Biggs, J., Gilbert, A., Richmond, S. and Belov, K., 2022. Threatened Species Initiative: empowering conservation action using genomic resources. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(4).

- Hogg, J.T., Forbes, S.H., Steele, B.M. and Luikart, G., 2006. Genetic rescue of an insular population of large mammals. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 273(1593), pp.1491-1499.
- Hohenlohe, P.A., Funk, W.C. and Rajora, O.P., 2021. Population genomics for wildlife conservation and management. *Molecular Ecology*, *30*(1), pp.62-82.
- Hu, Y., Thapa, A., Fan, H., Ma, T., Wu, Q., Ma, S., Zhang, D., Wang, B., Li, M., Yan, L. and Wei, F., 2020. Genomic evidence for two phylogenetic species and long-term population bottlenecks in red pandas. *Science Advances*, 6(9), p.eaax5751.
- Huchard, E., Knapp, L.A., Wang, J., Raymond, M. and Cowlishaw, G., 2010. MHC, mate choice and heterozygote advantage in a wild social primate. *Molecular Ecology*, 19(12), pp.2545-2561.
- Hui, R., D'Atanasio, E., Cassidy, L.M., Scheib, C.L. and Kivisild, T., 2020. Evaluating genotype imputation pipeline for ultra-low coverage ancient genomes. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), pp.1-8.
- Huisman, J., Kruuk, L.E., Ellis, P.A., Clutton-Brock, T. and Pemberton, J.M., 2016.
 Inbreeding depression across the lifespan in a wild mammal population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(13), pp.3585-3590.
- Iannucci, A., Benazzo, A., Natali, C., Arida, E.A., Zein, M.S.A., Jessop, T.S., Bertorelle, G. and Ciofi, C., 2021. Population structure, genomic diversity and demographic history of Komodo dragons inferred from whole-genome sequencing. *Molecular Ecology*, 30(23), pp.6309-6324.
- Ingvarsson, P.K., 2001. Restoration of genetic variation lost-the genetic rescue hypothesis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *16*(2), pp.62-63.
- Jarne, P. and Lagoda, P.J., 1996. Microsatellites, from molecules to populations and back. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, *11*(10), pp.424-429.
- Jeffries, D.L., Copp, G.H., Lawson Handley, L., Olsén, K.H., Sayer, C.D. and Hänfling, B., 2016. Comparing RAD seq and microsatellites to infer complex phylogeographic patterns, an empirical perspective in the Crucian carp, *Carassius carassius*, L. *Molecular ecology*, 25(13), pp.2997-3018.
- Jensen, A., Lillie, M., Bergström, K., Larsson, P. and Höglund, J., 2021. Whole genome sequencing reveals high differentiation, low levels of genetic diversity and short runs of homozygosity among Swedish wels catfish. *Heredity*, 127(1), pp.79-91.

- Johnson, C.N., Balmford, A., Brook, B.W., Buettel, J.C., Galetti, M., Guangchun, L. and Wilmshurst, J.M., 2017. Biodiversity losses and conservation responses in the Anthropocene. *Science*, 356(6335), pp.270-275.
- Jørgensen, L.B., Ørsted, M., Malte, H., Wang, T. and Overgaard, J., 2022. Extreme escalation of heat failure rates in ectotherms with global warming. *Nature*, pp.1-6.
- Julian, A. and Hodges, R.J., 2019. The vanishing viper: themes from a meeting to consider better conservation of *Vipera berus*. *Herpetol*. *Bull*, *149*, pp.1-10.
- Kardos, M., Armstrong, E.E., Fitzpatrick, S.W., Hauser, S., Hedrick, P.W., Miller, J.M., Tallmon, D.A. and Funk, W.C., 2021. The crucial role of genome-wide genetic variation in conservation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(48).
- Keyghobadi, N., 2007. The genetic implications of habitat fragmentation for animals. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 85(10), pp.1049-1064.
- Khan, A., Patel, K., Shukla, H., Viswanathan, A., van der Valk, T., Borthakur, U., Nigam, P., Zachariah, A., Jhala, Y.V., Kardos, M. and Ramakrishnan, U., 2021. Genomic evidence for inbreeding depression and purging of deleterious genetic variation in Indian tigers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(49), p.e2023018118.
- Kimura, M. and Ohta, T., 1969. The average number of generations until fixation of a mutant gene in a finite population. *Genetics*, *61*(3), p.763.
- Kingsolver, J.G., Diamond, S.E. and Buckley, L.B., 2013. Heat stress and the fitness consequences of climate change for terrestrial ectotherms. *Functional Ecology*, 27(6), pp.1415-1423.
- Kitada, S., Nakamichi, R. and Kishino, H., 2021. Understanding population structure in an evolutionary context: population-specific F ST and pairwise F ST. *G3*, *11*(11), p.jkab316.
- Kleinman-Ruiz, D., Lucena-Perez, M., Villanueva, B., Fernández, J., Saveljev, A.P.,
 Ratkiewicz, M., Schmidt, K., Galtier, N., García-Dorado, A. and Godoy, J.A., 2022.
 Purging of deleterious burden in the endangered Iberian lynx. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(11), p.e2110614119.
- Korneliussen, T.S., Albrechtsen, A. and Nielsen, R., 2014. ANGSD: analysis of next generation sequencing data. *BMC bioinformatics*, *15*(1), pp.1-13.
- Kyriazis, C.C., Wayne, R.K. and Lohmueller, K.E., 2021. Strongly deleterious mutations are a primary determinant of extinction risk due to inbreeding depression. *Evolution letters*, *5*(1), pp.33-47.

- Kyriazis, C.C., Wayne, R.K. and Lohmueller, K.E., 2021. Strongly deleterious mutations are a primary determinant of extinction risk due to inbreeding depression. *Evolution letters*, *5*(1), pp.33-47.
- Lande, R., 1993. Risks of population extinction from demographic and environmental stochasticity and random catastrophes. *The American Naturalist*, *142*(6), pp.911-927.
- Leighton, G.R., 1901. The life-history of British serpents and their local distribution in the British Isles. W. Blackwood and sons.
- Lemopoulos, A., Prokkola, J.M., Uusi-Heikkilä, S., Vasemägi, A., Huusko, A., Hyvärinen, P., Koljonen, M.L., Koskiniemi, J. and Vainikka, A., 2019. Comparing RADseq and microsatellites for estimating genetic diversity and relatedness—implications for brown trout conservation. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9(4), pp.2106-2120.
- Lettoof, D.C., Thomson, V.A., Cornelis, J., Bateman, P.W., Aubret, F., Gagnon, M.M. and von Takach, B., 2021. Bioindicator snake shows genomic signatures of natural and anthropogenic barriers to gene flow. *PloS one*, *16*(10), p.e0259124.
- Lewin, H.A., Richards, S., Aiden, E.L., Allende, M.L., Archibald, J.M., Bálint, M., Barker, K.B., Baumgartner, B., Belov, K., Bertorelle, G. and Blaxter, M.L., 2022. The earth BioGenome project 2020: Starting the clock. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(4).
- Lewin, H.A., Robinson, G.E., Kress, W.J., Baker, W.J., Coddington, J., Crandall, K.A., Durbin, R., Edwards, S.V., Forest, F., Gilbert, M.T.P. and Goldstein, M.M., 2018. Earth BioGenome Project: Sequencing life for the future of life. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(17), pp.4325-4333.
- Li, H. and Durbin, R., 2009a. Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows–Wheeler transform. *bioinformatics*, 25(14), pp.1754-1760.
- Li, H. and Durbin, R., 2011. Inference of human population history from individual wholegenome sequences. *Nature*, 475(7357), pp.493-496.
- Li, H., Handsaker, B., Wysoker, A., Fennell, T., Ruan, J., Homer, N., Marth, G., Abecasis, G., Durbin, R. and 1000 Genome Project Data Processing Subgroup, 2009b. The sequence alignment/map format and SAMtools. *bioinformatics*, 25(16), pp.2078-2079.
- Li, L.H., Ho, S.F., Chen, C.H., Wei, C.Y., Wong, W.C., Li, L.Y., Hung, S.I., Chung, W.H., Pan, W.H., Lee, M.T.M. and Tsai, F.J., 2006. Long contiguous stretches of homozygosity in the human genome. *Human mutation*, *27*(11), pp.1115-1121.

- Lino, A., Fonseca, C., Rojas, D., Fischer, E. and Pereira, M.J.R., 2019. A meta-analysis of the effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on genetic diversity in mammals. *Mammalian Biology*, 94(1), pp.69-76.
- Liu, L., Bosse, M., Megens, H.J., de Visser, M., AM Groenen, M. and Madsen, O., 2021. Genetic consequences of long-term small effective population size in the critically endangered pygmy hog. *Evolutionary Applications*, 14(3), pp.710-720.
- Lou, R.N., Jacobs, A., Wilder, A.P. and Therkildsen, N.O., 2021. A beginner's guide to lowcoverage whole genome sequencing for population genomics. *Molecular Ecology*, 30(23), pp.5966-5993.
- Löytynoja, A., Rastas, P., Valtonen, M., Kammonen, J., Holm, L., Olsen, M.T., Paulin, L., Jernvall, J. and Auvinen, P., 2022. Fragmented habitat compensates for the adverse effects of genetic bottleneck. *bioRxiv*, pp.2022-04.
- Luikart, G., Kardos, M., Hand, B.K., Rajora, O.P., Aitken, S.N. and Hohenlohe, P.A., 2018. Population genomics: advancing understanding of nature. *Population genomics*, pp.3-79.
- Lukoschek, V., 2018. Population declines, genetic bottlenecks and potential hybridization in sea snakes on Australia's Timor Sea reefs. Biological Conservation, 225, pp.66-79.
- Madsen, T. and Shine, R., 1992. Determinants of reproductive success in female adders, Vipera berus. *Oecologia*, 92, pp.40-47.
- Madsen, T., Stille, B. and Shine, R., 1996. Inbreeding depression in an isolated population of adders *Vipera berus*. *Biological conservation*, *75*(2), pp.113-118.
- Madsen, T., Shine, R., Olsson, M. and Wittzell, H., 1999. Restoration of an inbred adder population. *Nature*, 402(6757), pp.34-35.
- Madsen, T., Ujvari, B. and Olsson, M., 2004. Novel genes continue to enhance population growth in adders (*Vipera berus*). *Biological Conservation*, *120*(1), pp.145-147.
- Madsen, T. and Ujvari, B., 2011. The potential demise of a population of adders (*Vipera berus*) in Smygehuk, Sweden. *Herpetological Conservation and Biology* 6 (2011), pp. 72-74.
- Madsen, T., Loman, J., Anderberg, L., Anderberg, H., Georges, A. and Ujvari, B., 2020. Genetic rescue restores long-term viability of an isolated population of adders (*Vipera berus*). *Current Biology*, *30*(21), pp.R1297-R1299.
- Madsen, T., Ujvari, B., Bauwens, D., Gruber, B., Georges, A. and Klaassen, M., 2023.
 Polyandry and non-random fertilisation maintain long-term genetic diversity in an isolated island population of adders (*Vipera berus*). Heredity, 130(2), pp.64-72.

- Magoč, T. and Salzberg, S.L., 2011. FLASH: fast length adjustment of short reads to improve genome assemblies. *Bioinformatics*, 27(21), pp.2957-2963.
- Mallow, D., Ludwig, D. and Nilson, G., 2003. True vipers: natural history and toxinology of old world vipers. Krieger Publishing.
- Maritz, B., Penner, J., Martins, M., Crnobrnja-Isailović, J., Spear, S., Alencar, L.R., Sigala-Rodriguez, J., Messenger, K., Clark, R.W., Soorae, P. and Luiselli, L., 2016. Identifying global priorities for the conservation of vipers. *Biological Conservation*, 204, pp.94-102.
- Markert, J.A., Champlin, D.M., Gutjahr-Gobell, R., Grear, J.S., Kuhn, A., McGreevy, T.J., Roth, A., Bagley, M.J. and Nacci, D.E., 2010. Population genetic diversity and fitness in multiple environments. *BMC evolutionary biology*, 10(1), pp.1-13.
- Martin, A.R., Atkinson, E.G., Chapman, S.B., Stevenson, A., Stroud, R.E., Abebe, T., Akena, D., Alemayehu, M., Ashaba, F.K., Atwoli, L. and Bowers, T., 2021. Low-coverage sequencing cost-effectively detects known and novel variation in underrepresented populations. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 108(4), pp.656-668.
- Martin, C., Sheppard, E., Illera, J.C., Suh, A., Nadachowska-Brzyska, K., Spurgin, L. and Richardson, D., 2022. Runs of homozygosity reveal past bottlenecks and contemporary inbreeding across diverging island populations of a bird. *Authorea Preprints*.
- Martin, M., 2011. Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. *EMBnet. journal*, *17*(1), pp.10-12.
- Mathelier, A., Shi, W. and Wasserman, W.W., 2015. Identification of altered cis-regulatory elements in human disease. *Trends in Genetics*, *31*(2), pp.67-76.
- McInerny, C.J., 2018. Amphibian and Reptile Conservation in Scotland: Focus on the Great Crested Newt Triturus cristatus and the European Adder *Vipera berus*. *Reptiles and Amphibians*.
- Melis, C., Pertoldi, C., Ludington, W.B., Beuchat, C., Qvigstad, G. and Stronen, A.V., 2022. Genetic rescue of the highly inbred Norwegian Lundehund. *Genes*, *13*(1), p.163.
- Mooney, J.A., Marsden, C.D., Yohannes, A., Wayne, R.K. and Lohmueller, K.E., 2023. Long-term small population size, deleterious variation, and altitude adaptation in the Ethiopian wolf, a severely endangered canid. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 40(1), p.msac277.
- Moore, J.A., Miller, H.C., Daugherty, C.H. and Nelson, N.J., 2008. Fine-scale genetic structure of a long-lived reptile reflects recent habitat modification. *Molecular Ecology*, 17(21), pp.4630-4641.

- Munkhbayar, K., Rustamov, A, Orlov, N.L., Jelić, D., Meyer, A., Borczyk, B., Joger, U., Tomović, L., Cheylan, M., Corti, C., Crnobrnja-Isailović, J., Vogrin, M., Sá-Sousa, P., Pleguezuelos, J., Sterijovski, B., Westerström, A., Schmidt, B., Sindaco, R., Borkin, L., Milto, K. & Nuridjanov, D. 2021. *Vipera berus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2021: e.T47756146A743903.
- Nielsen, R., Korneliussen, T., Albrechtsen, A., Li, Y. and Wang, J., 2012. SNP calling, genotype calling, and sample allele frequency estimation from new-generation sequencing data.
- O'Grady, J.J., Reed, D.H., Brook, B.W. and Frankham, R., 2004. What are the best correlates of predicted extinction risk?. *Biological Conservation*, *118*(4), pp.513-520.
- Ochoa, A., Onorato, D.P., Roelke-Parker, M.E., Culver, M. and Fitak, R.R., 2022. Give and take: Effects of genetic admixture on mutation load in endangered Florida panthers. *Journal of Heredity*, 113(5), pp.491-499.
- Otte, Norbert, Daniel Bohle & Burkhard thieSmeier 2020. Die Kreuzotter ein Leben in ziemlich festen Bahnen. Beiheft der Zeitschrift für Feldherpe- tologie 5, Laurenti-Verlag, 256 Seiten
- Otto, S.P. and Whitlock, M.C., 1997. The probability of fixation in populations of changing size. *Genetics*, *146*(2), pp.723-733.
- Paijmans, J.L., Barlow, A., Becker, M.S., Cahill, J.A., Fickel, J., Förster, D.W., Gries, K., Hartmann, S., Havmøller, R.W., Henneberger, K. and Kern, C., 2021. African and Asian leopards are highly differentiated at the genomic level. *Current Biology*, *31*(9), pp.1872-1882.
- Palmeirim, A.F., Santos-Filho, M. and Peres, C.A., 2020. Marked decline in forest-dependent small mammals following habitat loss and fragmentation in an Amazonian deforestation frontier. *PloS one*, 15(3), p.e0230209.
- Paradis, E. and Schliep, K., 2019. ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. *Bioinformatics*, *35*(3), pp.526-528.
- Parreira, B., Quéméré, E., Vanpé, C., Carvalho, I. and Chikhi, L., 2020. Genetic consequences of social structure in the golden-crowned sifaka. *Heredity*, 125(5), pp.328-339.
- Parreira, B.R. and Chikhi, L., 2015. On some genetic consequences of social structure, mating systems, dispersal, and sampling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(26), pp.E3318-E3326.
- Pérez-Pereira, N., Caballero, A. and García-Dorado, A., 2022. Reviewing the consequences of genetic purging on the success of rescue programs. *Conservation Genetics*, *23*(1), pp.1-17.

- Peterson, B.K., Weber, J.N., Kay, E.H., Fisher, H.S. and Hoekstra, H.E., 2012. Double digest RADseq: an inexpensive method for de novo SNP discovery and genotyping in model and non-model species. *PloS one*, 7(5), p.e37135.
- Phelps, T., 2004. Population dynamics and spatial distribution of the adder *Vipera berus* in southern Dorset, England. *Mertensiella*, *15*, pp.241-258.
- Phelps, T., 2010. Old world vipers: a natural history of the Azemiopinae and Viperinae. Edition Chimaira.
- Pimm, S.L., Dollar, L. and Bass Jr, O.L., 2006. The genetic rescue of the Florida panther. *Animal Conservation*, *9*(2), pp.115-122.
- Pleguezuelos, J.M., Santos, X., Brito, J.C., Parellada, X., Llorente, G.A. and Fahd, S., 2007. Reproductive ecology of *Vipera latastei*, in the Iberian Peninsula: implications for the conservation of a Mediterranean viper. *Zoology*, *110*(1), pp.9-19.
- Podloucky, R., Blanke, I., Bohle, D., Hansbauer, G., Laufer, H., Ortlieb, F. and Winkler, C., 2020. Kreuzotter (Vipera berus). Rote-Liste-Gremium Amphibien und Reptilien (2020):
 Rote Liste und Gesamtartenliste der Reptilien (Reptilia) Deutschlands. Naturschutz und Biologische Vielfalt 170 (3): 64 S.
- Preston, J., VanZeeland, A. and Peiffer, D.A., 2021. Innovation at Illumina: The road to the \$600 human genome. Nature (Illumia).
- Püttker, T., Crouzeilles, R., Almeida-Gomes, M., Schmoeller, M., Maurenza, D., Alves-Pinto, H., Pardini, R., Vieira, M.V., Banks-Leite, C., Fonseca, C.R. and Metzger, J.P., 2020.
 Indirect effects of habitat loss via habitat fragmentation: a cross-taxa analysis of forest-dependent species. *Biological Conservation*, 241, p.108368.
- Quinn, L., Garcia-Erill, G., Santander, C., Brüniche-Olsen, A., Liu, X., Sinding, M.H.S., Heaton, M.P., Smith, T.P., Pečnerová, P., Bertola, L.D. and Hanghøj, K., Colonialism in South Africa leaves a lasting legacy of reduced genetic diversity in Cape buffalo. *Molecular Ecology*.
- R Core Team (2021). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>.
- Ralls, K., Ballou, J. and Brownell Jr, R.L., 1983. Genetic diversity in California sea otters: theoretical considerations and management implications. Biological Conservation, 25(3), pp.209-232.
- Reading, C.J., Buckland, S.T., McGowan, G.M., Jayasinghe, G., Gorzula, S. and Balharry, D., 1996. The distribution and status of the adder (*Vipera berus*) in Scotland determined from questionnaire surveys. *Journal of Biogeography*, 23(5), pp.657-667.

- Rich, S.S., Bell, A.E. and Wilson, S.P., 1979. Genetic drift in small populations of *Tribolium. Evolution*, pp.579-584.
- Rivera-Ortíz, F.A., Aguilar, R., Arizmendi, M.D.C., Quesada, M. and Oyama, K., 2015. Habitat fragmentation and genetic variability of tetrapod populations. *Animal Conservation*, 18(3), pp.249-258.
- Roberts, M.J., Scourse, J.D., Bennell, J.D., Huws, D.G., Jago, C.F. and Long, B.T., 2011. Late Devensian and Holocene relative sea-level change in North Wales, UK. *Journal of Quaternary Science*, 26(2), pp.141-155.
- Robinson, J.A., Kyriazis, C.C., Nigenda-Morales, S.F., Beichman, A.C., Rojas-Bracho, L., Robertson, K.M., Fontaine, M.C., Wayne, R.K., Lohmueller, K.E., Taylor, B.L. and Morin, P.A., 2022. The critically endangered vaquita is not doomed to extinction by inbreeding depression. *Science*, *376*(6593), pp.635-639.
- Robinson, J.A., Räikkönen, J., Vucetich, L.M., Vucetich, J.A., Peterson, R.O., Lohmueller,
 K.E. and Wayne, R.K., 2019. Genomic signatures of extensive inbreeding in Isle Royale
 wolves, a population on the threshold of extinction. *Science Advances*, 5(5), p.eaau0757.
- Roques, S., Chancerel, E., Boury, C., Pierre, M. and Acolas, M.L., 2019. From microsatellites to single nucleotide polymorphisms for the genetic monitoring of a critically endangered sturgeon. *Ecology and evolution*, *9*(12), pp.7017-7029.
- Rounsevell, M.D.A. and Reay, D.S., 2009. Land use and climate change in the UK. *Land use policy*, *26*, pp.S160-S169.
- Rushton, S.P., Barreto, G.W., Cormack, R.M., Macdonald, D.W. and Fuller, R., 2000.
 Modelling the effects of mink and habitat fragmentation on the water vole. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *37*(3), pp.475-490.
- Rustagi, N., Zhou, A., Watkins, W.S., Gedvilaite, E., Wang, S., Ramesh, N., Muzny, D., Gibbs, R.A., Jorde, L.B., Yu, F. and Xing, J., 2017. Extremely low-coverage whole genome sequencing in South Asians captures population genomics information. *BMC genomics*, 18(1), pp.1-12.
- Saint Girons, H., 1980. Biogéographie et évolution des vipéres européennes. C.R. Soc. Biogéogr. 496: 146-172.
- Salado, I., Preick, M., Lupiáñez-Corpas, N., Fernández-Gil, A., Vilà, C., Hofreiter, M. and Leonard, J.A., 2022. Loss of Mitochondrial Genetic Diversity despite Population Growth: The Legacy of Past Wolf Population Declines. *Genes*, 14(1), p.75.
- Sánchez-Barreiro, F., Gopalakrishnan, S., Ramos-Madrigal, J., Westbury, M.V., de Manuel, M., Margaryan, A., Ciucani, M.M., Vieira, F.G., Patramanis, Y., Kalthoff, D.C. and

Timmons, Z., 2021. Historical population declines prompted significant genomic erosion in the northern and southern white rhinoceros (*Ceratotherium simum*). *Molecular ecology*, *30*(23), pp.6355-6369.

- Saremi, N.F., Supple, M.A., Byrne, A., Cahill, J.A., Coutinho, L.L., Dalén, L., Figueiró, H.V., Johnson, W.E., Milne, H.J., O'Brien, S.J. and O'Connell, B., 2019. Puma genomes from North and South America provide insights into the genomic consequences of inbreeding. *Nature communications*, 10(1), pp.1-10.
- Sboner, A., Mu, X.J., Greenbaum, D., Auerbach, R.K. and Gerstein, M.B., 2011. The real cost of sequencing: higher than you think!. *Genome biology*, *12*(8), pp.1-10.
- Schlaepfer, D.R., Braschler, B., Rusterholz, H.P. and Baur, B., 2018. Genetic effects of anthropogenic habitat fragmentation on remnant animal and plant populations: A metaanalysis. *Ecosphere*, 9(10), p.e02488.
- Schmidt, C., Hoban, S., Hunter, M., Paz-Vinas, I. and Garroway, C.J., 2023. Genetic diversity and IUCN Red List status. *Conservation Biology*, p.e14064.
- Schmidt, T.L., Jasper, M.E., Weeks, A.R. and Hoffmann, A.A., 2021. Unbiased population heterozygosity estimates from genome-wide sequence data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 12(10), pp.1888-1898.
- Schmidtler, J.F. & G. Hansbauer (2020): Die Alpenkreuzotter (*Vipera berus marasso*), eine neue Unterart in den Bayerischen Alpen.- Zeitschrift für Feldherpetologie 27: 136-148
- Schweizer, R.M., Saarman, N., Ramstad, K.M., Forester, B.R., Kelley, J.L., Hand, B.K., Malison, R.L., Ackiss, A.S., Watsa, M., Nelson, T.C. and Beja-Pereira, A., 2021. Big data in conservation genomics: boosting skills, hedging bets, and staying current in the field. *Journal of Heredity*, *112*(4), pp.313-327.
- Selkoe, K.A. and Toonen, R.J., 2006. Microsatellites for ecologists: a practical guide to using and evaluating microsatellite markers. *Ecology letters*, *9*(5), pp.615-629.
- Shafer, A.B., Peart, C.R., Tusso, S., Maayan, I., Brelsford, A., Wheat, C.W. and Wolf, J.B., 2017. Bioinformatic processing of RAD-seq data dramatically impacts downstream population genetic inference. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8(8), pp.907-917.
- Sindaco, R. and Razzetti, E., 2021. An updated check-list of Italian amphibians and reptiles. *Natural History Sciences*, 8(2), pp.35-46.
- Sintayehu, D.W., 2018. Impact of climate change on biodiversity and associated key ecosystem services in Africa: a systematic review. *Ecosystem health and sustainability*, *4*(9), pp.225-239.

- Skotte, L., Korneliussen, T.S. and Albrechtsen, A., 2013. Estimating individual admixture proportions from next generation sequencing data. *Genetics*, *195*(3), pp.693-702.
- Smeds, L. and Ellegren, H., 2022. From high masked to high realized genetic load in inbred Scandinavian wolves. *Molecular Ecology*.
- Sovic, M., Fries, A., Martin, S.A. and Lisle Gibbs, H., 2019. Genetic signatures of small effective population sizes and demographic declines in an endangered rattlesnake, *Sistrurus catenatus. Evolutionary Applications*, *12*(4), pp.664-678.
- Speybroeck, J., Beukema, W., Bok, B. and Van Der Voort, J., 2016. Field guide to the amphibians and reptiles of Britain and Europe. Bloomsbury publishing.
- Speybroeck, J., Beukema, W., Dufresnes, C., Fritz, U., Jablonski, D., Lymberakis, P., Martínez-Solano, I., Razzetti, E., Vamberger, M., Vences, M. and Vörös, J., 2020. Species list of the European herpetofauna–2020 update by the Taxonomic Committee of the Societas Europaea Herpetologica. *Amphibia-Reptilia*, 41(2), pp.139-189.
- Stahlke, A., Bell, D., Dhendup, T., Kern, B., Pannoni, S., Robinson, Z., Strait, J., Smith, S., Hand, B.K., Hohenlohe, P.A. and Luikart, G., 2020. Population genomics training for the next generation of conservation geneticists: ConGen 2018 Workshop. *Journal of Heredity*, 111(2), pp.227-236.
- Stanhope, M.J., Ceres, K.M., Sun, Q., Wang, M., Zehr, J.D., Marra, N.J., Wilder, A.P., Zou, C., Bernard, A.M., Pavinski-Bitar, P. and Lokey, M.G., 2023. Genomes of endangered great hammerhead and shortfin mako sharks reveal historic population declines and high levels of inbreeding in great hammerhead. *Iscience*, 26(1), p.105815.
- Sun, J.X., Mullikin, J.C., Patterson, N. and Reich, D.E., 2009. Microsatellites are molecular clocks that support accurate inferences about history. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 26(5), pp.1017-1027.
- Sunde, J., Yıldırım, Y., Tibblin, P. and Forsman, A., 2020. Comparing the performance of microsatellites and RADseq in population genetic studies: analysis of data for pike (Esox lucius) and a synthesis of previous studies. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 11, p.218.
- Supple, M.A. and Shapiro, B., 2018. Conservation of biodiversity in the genomics era. *Genome biology*, *19*(1), pp.1-12.
- Tallmon, D.A., Luikart, G. and Waples, R.S., 2004. The alluring simplicity and complex reality of genetic rescue. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *19*(9), pp.489-496.
- Templeton, A.R., Shaw, K., Routman, E. and Davis, S.K., 1990. The genetic consequences of habitat fragmentation. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, pp.13-27.

- Thrasher, D.J., Butcher, B.G., Campagna, L., Webster, M.S. and Lovette, I.J., 2018. Doubledigest RAD sequencing outperforms microsatellite loci at assigning paternity and estimating relatedness: a proof of concept in a highly promiscuous bird. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 18(5), pp.953-965.
- Tian, D., Patton, A.H., Turner, B.J. and Martin, C.H., 2022. Severe inbreeding, increased mutation load and gene loss-of-function in the critically endangered Devils Hole pupfish. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 289(1986), p.20221561.
- Tolley, K.A., Tilbury, C.R., Da Silva, J.M., Brown, G., Chapeta, Y. and Anderson, C.V., 2022. Clinging to survival: Critically Endangered Chapman's pygmy chameleon *Rhampholeon chapmanorum* persists in shrinking forest patches. Oryx, 56(3), pp.451-456.
- Toth, T., Krecsak, L. and Gal, J., 2010. Collecting and killing of the Common Adder (*Vipera berus*) in Hungary between 1950-1970. *North-Western Journal of Zoology*, 6(1).
- Tóth, T., Madsen, T., Gál, J. and Újvári, B., 2005. Severe malformation in neonate *Vipera ursinii rakosiensis. Amphibia-Reptilia*, *26*(3), pp.388-390.
- Trombulak, S.C. and Frissell, C.A., 2000. Review of ecological effects of roads on terrestrial and aquatic communities. *Conservation biology*, *14*(1), pp.18-30.
- Trumbo, D.R., Funk, W.C., Pauly, G.B. and Robertson, J.M., 2021. Conservation genetics of an island-endemic lizard: low N e and the critical role of intermediate temperatures for genetic connectivity. *Conservation Genetics*, 22(5), pp.783-797.
- Tsitrone, A., Rousset, F. and David, P., 2001. Heterosis, marker mutational processes and population inbreeding history. *Genetics*, *159*(4), pp.1845-1859.
- Turner, R.K. and Maclean, I.M., 2022. Microclimate-driven trends in spring-emergence phenology in a temperate reptile (*Vipera berus*): Evidence for a potential "climate trap"?. *Ecology and Evolution*, 12(2), p.e8623.
- Turvey, S.T. and Crees, J.J., 2019. Extinction in the Anthropocene. *Current Biology*, 29(19), pp.R982-R986.
- Újvári, B., Madsen, T., Kotenko, T., Olsson, M., Shine, R. and Wittzell, H., 2002. Low genetic diversity threatens imminent extinction for the Hungarian meadow viper (*Vipera ursinii rakosiensis*). *Biological Conservation*, *105*(1), pp.127-130.
- Ursenbacher, S., Erny, C. and Fumagalli, L., 2009a. Male reproductive success and multiple paternity in wild, low-density populations of the adder (Vipera berus). *Journal of Heredity*, *100*(3), pp.365-370.

- Ursenbacher, S., Monney, J.C. and Fumagalli, L., 2009b. Limited genetic diversity and high differentiation among the remnant adder (*Vipera berus*) populations in the Swiss and French Jura Mountains. *Conservation genetics*, *10*(2), pp.303-315.
- van den Burg, M.P., Madden, H., van Wagensveld, T.P. and Boman, E., 2022. Hurricaneassociated population decrease in a critically endangered long-lived reptile. *Biotropica*.
- van Oosterhout, C.V., Speak, S.A., Birley, T., Bortoluzzi, C., Percival-Alwyn, L., Urban, L.H., Groombridge, J.J., Segelbacher, G. and Morales, H.E., 2022. Genomic erosion in the assessment of species extinction risk and recovery potential. *bioRxiv*, pp.2022-09.
- Vellend, M., Baeten, L., Becker-Scarpitta, A., Boucher-Lalonde, V., McCune, J.L., Messier, J., Myers-Smith, I.H. and Sax, D.F., 2017. Plant biodiversity change across scales during the Anthropocene. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 68, pp.563-586.
- Vendrami, D.L., Telesca, L., Weigand, H., Weiss, M., Fawcett, K., Lehman, K., Clark, M.S., Leese, F., McMinn, C., Moore, H. and Hoffman, J.I., 2017. RAD sequencing resolves finescale population structure in a benthic invertebrate: implications for understanding phenotypic plasticity. *Royal Society open science*, 4(2), p.160548.
- Vieira, M.L.C., Santini, L., Diniz, A.L. and Munhoz, C.D.F., 2016. Microsatellite markers: what they mean and why they are so useful. *Genetics and molecular biology*, 39, pp.312-328.
- Von Seth, J., Dussex, N., Díez-del-Molino, D., Van Der Valk, T., Kutschera, V.E., Kierczak, M., Steiner, C.C., Liu, S., Gilbert, M.T.P., Sinding, M.H.S. and Prost, S., 2021. Genomic insights into the conservation status of the world's last remaining Sumatran rhinoceros populations. *Nature communications*, 12(1), p.2393.
- Vörös, J., Ursenbacher, S., Jelić, D., Tomović, L., Crnobrnja-Isailović, J., Ajtić, R., Sterijovski, B., Zinenko, O., Ghira, I., Strugariu, A. and Zamfirescu, S., 2022. Well-known species, unexpected results: high genetic diversity in declining *Vipera ursinii* in central, eastern and southeastern Europe. *Amphibia-Reptilia*, 43(4), pp.407-423.
- Wagner, D.L., 2020. Insect declines in the Anthropocene. Annual review of entomology, 65, pp.457-480.
- Wake, D.B. and Vredenburg, V.T., 2008. Are we in the midst of the sixth mass extinction? A view from the world of amphibians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(Supplement 1), pp.11466-11473.
- Walker, F.M., Sunnucks, P. and Taylor, A.C., 2008. Evidence for habitat fragmentation altering within-population processes in wombats. *Molecular Ecology*, 17(7), pp.1674-1684.

- Waller, D.M., 2015. Genetic rescue: a safe or risky bet?. *Molecular Ecology*, 24(11), pp.2595-2597.
- Wang, W., Qiao, Y., Li, S., Pan, W. and Yao, M., 2017. Low genetic diversity and strong population structure shaped by anthropogenic habitat fragmentation in a critically endangered primate, Trachypithecus leucocephalus. *Heredity*, 118(6), pp.542-553.
- Warren, W.C., Hillier, L.W., Graves, J.A.M., Birney, E., Ponting, C.P., Grützner, F., Belov,
 K., Miller, W., Clarke, L., Chinwalla, A.T. and Yang, S.P., 2008. Genome analysis of the platypus reveals unique signatures of evolution. *Nature*, 453(7192), p.175.
- Westbury, M.V., Hartmann, S., Barlow, A., Wiesel, I., Leo, V., Welch, R., Parker, D.M., Sicks, F., Ludwig, A., Dalén, L. and Hofreiter, M., 2018. Extended and continuous decline in effective population size results in low genomic diversity in the world's rarest hyena species, the brown hyena. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 35(5), pp.1225-1237.
- Westbury, M.V., Petersen, B., Garde, E., Heide-Jørgensen, M.P. and Lorenzen, E.D., 2019. Narwhal genome reveals long-term low genetic diversity despite current large abundance size. IScience, 15, pp.592-599.
- Whiteley, A.R., Fitzpatrick, S.W., Funk, W.C. and Tallmon, D.A., 2015. Genetic rescue to the rescue. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, *30*(1), pp.42-49.
- Wilder, A.P., Dudchenko, O., Curry, C., Korody, M., Turbek, S.P., Daly, M., Misuraca, A., Wang, G., Khan, R., Weisz, D. and Fronczek, J., 2022. A chromosome-length reference genome for the endangered Pacific pocket mouse reveals recent inbreeding in a historically large population. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 14(8), p.evac122.
- Winterrowd, M.F., Dobson, F.S., Hoogland, J.L. and Foltz, D.W., 2009. Social subdivision influences effective population size in the colonial-breeding black-tailed prairie dog. Journal of Mammalogy, 90(2), pp.380-387.
- Wood, D.A., Rose, J.P., Halstead, B.J., Stoelting, R.E., Swaim, K.E. and Vandergast, A.G., 2020. Combining genetic and demographic monitoring better informs conservation of an endangered urban snake. *PLoS One*, 15(5), p.e0231744.
- Wootton, E., Robert, C., Taillon, J., Côté, S. and Shafer, A.B., 2022. Genomic health is dependent on long-term population demographic history. *bioRxiv*, pp.2022-08.
- Worthington-Hill, J.O. and Gill, J.A., 2019. Effects of large-scale heathland management on thermal regimes and predation on adders Vipera berus. *Animal Conservation*, 22(5), pp.481-492.
- Wright, B., Farquharson, K.A., McLennan, E.A., Belov, K., Hogg, C.J. and Grueber, C.E.,2019. From reference genomes to population genomics: comparing three reference-aligned

reduced-representation sequencing pipelines in two wildlife species. *BMC genomics*, 20(1), pp.1-10.

- Xie, H.X., Liang, X.X., Chen, Z.Q., Li, W.M., Mi, C.R., Li, M., Wu, Z.J., Zhou, X.M. and Du, W.G., 2022. Ancient demographics determine the effectiveness of genetic purging in endangered lizards. Molecular biology and evolution, 39(1), p.msab359.
- Zhan, A., Bao, Z., Hu, X., Lu, W. and Hu, J., 2009. Methods comparison for microsatellite marker development: different isolation methods, different yield efficiency. *Journal of Ocean University of China*, 8(2), pp.161-165.
- Zhang, L., Lan, T., Lin, C., Fu, W., Yuan, Y., Lin, K., Li, H., Sahu, S.K., Liu, Z., Chen, D. and Liu, Q., 2023. Chromosome-scale genomes reveal genomic consequences of inbreeding in the South China tiger: A comparative study with the Amur tiger. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 23(2), pp.330-347.
- Zimmerman, S.J., Aldridge, C.L. and Oyler-McCance, S.J., 2020. An empirical comparison of population genetic analyses using microsatellite and SNP data for a species of conservation concern. *BMC genomics*, 21(1), pp.1-16.

APPENDIX

Appendix I – DNeasy Blood and Tissues Kit DNA extraction protocol

Approximately 2 mm² of tissue sample was cut into smaller fragments through the use of a sterile scalpel. Subsequentially, these were transferred into a 1.5 ml tube where 180 µl of ATL buffer were further added, followed by 20 µl of proteinase K. The tube was incubated overnight at 56°C to allow tissue digestion. Afterwards, the samples were mixed via the use of a vortex for 15 s. 200 µl of AL buffer and 200 µl of absolute ethanol were further added. Tube's content was then transferred into a spin column. Therefore, samples were placed into a centrifuge at 8000 rpm for 1 minute. Tube's content was then transferred into a new collection tube where 500 µl of AW1 buffer were subsequentially added. Therefore, samples were placed into a centrifuge at 8000 rpm for 1 minute. Following centrifugation, tube's content was placed into a new collection tube and 500 µl of AW2 buffer were added. Therefore, samples were placed into a centrifuge at 13000 rpm for 3 minutes. Following centrifugation, the column's content was placed into a 1.5 ml tube, where 100 µl of AE buffer were subsequentially added. The samples were incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. Therefore, samples were placed into a centrifuge at 8000 rpm for 1 minute. Following centrifugation, tube's content was placed into a second elution tube where 50 µl of AE buffer were added. Samples were incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. Finally, samples were placed into a centrifuge at 8000 rpm for 1 minute.

Appendix II – Qubit 3 DNA quantification protocol

Firstly, the lids of 0.5 ml tubes were labelled for samples and two standards. Afterwards, the Qubit working solution was prepared by mixing the Qubit dsDNA HS Reagent with the Qubit dsDNA HS Buffer with a 1:200 ratio. 190 μ l of working solution was then pipetted into the standards. Subsequentially, 10 μ l of Qubit standard was added. Tubes were then vortexed for 3 seconds. 199 μ l of working solution was added to all the sample tubes. 1 μ l of DNA for quantification was then pipetted into the sample tubes and the latter were then vortexed for 3 seconds. Tubes were then incubated at room temperature for 2 minutes. On the Qubit 3, dsDNA high sensitivity was selected as assay type. Subsequentially the

machine was calibrated via the reads of the standards. Once calibrated, the samples' DNA was quantified. Sample volume was set as 1 μ l in the corresponding menu. Afterwards, samples were placed into the chamber and "Read tube" was pressed. Once the read was completed, the resulting concentration values were manually recorded. This process was then performed for all the samples.

Appendix III – DNA quantification results Results relative to non-invasive sample (shed skin) are highlighted with a bold font.

N.B. This procedure was performed with/by John Benjamin Owens.

Sample ID	DNA concentration elution 1	DNA concentration elution 2	
	(ng/µl)	(ng/µl)	
WW5272	80	80	
WW5273	70	60	
WW5274	140	140	
WW5275	120	120	
WW5280	150	120	
WW5281	40	40	
WW5287	70	70	
WW5288	60	60	
WW5289	90	90	
WW5290	120	120	
WW5300	120	120	
WW5301	10	10	
WW5302	120	120	
WW5305	150	150	
WW5395	96	46	
WW5396	79	51	

Appendix IV – Resulting data further details

The table contains results from the trimming, merging, and mapping processes. For each sample It shows the number of raw read pairs, the approximate percentage of reads (1 and 2) with adapter, the number of read pairs shorter than 30 mb, the percentage of combined pairs after short read removal, the number of mapped reads (Gb), and the read depth.

Sample ID	Raw read	Reads	Read	Combined	Mapping	Read
	pairs	with	pairs < 30	pairs (%)	coverage	depth
		adapter	mb		(GB)	
		(%)				
WW5272	59485998	37	2662	26.67	11.61	8.9
WW5273	76249417	37	4062	24.46	14.56	11.2
WW5274	56518134	37	3288	24.54	11.43	8.8
WW5275	55078138	37	2302	31.24	11.24	8.7
WW5280	57227177	37	2732	39.13	11.33	8.8
WW5281	66794362	37	3419	22.80	13.00	10.0
WW5287	58050421	37	2580	35.07	11.49	8.9
WW5288	83414961	37	5075	21.83	15.83	12.2
WW5289	73151161	37	4261	21.41	14.53	11.2
WW5290	74044433	37	4711	32.54	14.01	10.8
WW5300	71506150	37	3456	31.42	14.17	10.9
WW5301	73468547	37	3795	36.97	13.84	10.7
WW5302	56607401	37	2484	39.85	11.02	8.5
WW5305	66347902	37	3511	29.26	12.99	10.0
WW5395	72347587	37	2720	16.94	14.38	11.1
WW5396	61895797	37	2198	19.83	12.51	9.67
ZMUCR90374	33625072	60	9533	78.40	2.16	2.1
ZMUCR90375	15290738	59	5468	76.46	4.83	3.9

Appendix V - Mapping results Ophidiomyces ophiodiicola

The table shows the mapping statistics obtained via mapping of the UK adder sequences to the reference genome for *O. ophidiicola*. For each individual, the breadth of coverage (obtained via the function "depth" of Samtools and by dividing the resulting number by the size of the reference genome, which represents the percentage of the genome covered by more than one read), and the read depth are reported.

Sample ID	Breadth of coverage (%)	Read depth
WW5272	0.33	76
WW5273	0.35	91
WW5274	0.31	82
WW5275	0.30	76
WW5280	0.32	60
WW5281	0.32	79
WW5287	0.31	72
WW5288	0.36	80
WW5289	0.35	94
WW5290	0.33	93
WW5300	0.38	68
WW5301	0.38	62
WW5302	0.35	59
WW5305	0.38	64
WW5395	0.36	74
WW5396	0.34	72

Appendix VI – Ancestry analyses for K=3

Each bar of the plot represents an individual adder. Each plot represents a different run, each was performed using a unique seed value. The three different colours represent: green for Anglesey 1 and Anglesey 2 populations, purple for the Gwynedd population, and fuchsia for the Staffordshire population.


Appendix VII – Ancestry analyses for K=5

Each bar of the plot represents an individual adder. Each plot represents a different run, each was performed using a unique seed value. The five different colours represent: green for the Anglesey 1 population, orange for the Anglesey 2 population, purple for the Gwynedd population, fuchsia for the Staffordshire population, and grey for a fifth unknown population cluster.



K 5

Appendix VIII – Between-species average genome-wide heterozygosity

The table contains the value used for the figure 7. Values for the four adder populations were obtained as the mean of the relative individual adders' average genome-wide values. Values for the other vertebrate taxa were obtained from Westbury *et al.* 2018.

Taxon	Heterozygosity (per kb)
Staffordshire	2.32
Anglesey 1	1.75
Anglesey 2	1.70
Gwynedd	1.65
Yellow baboon	1.68
Chimpanzee	1.08
Human (African)	0.791
Human (European)	0.595
Panda	0.497
Bonobo	0.468
Polar bear	0.320
Cheetah	0.269
Orca	0.214
Iberian lynx	0.176
Island fox	0.139
Brown hyena	0.121